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2. Consolidated statement of comprehensive income

€ ’000 | Year ended September 30 Note 2013 2012

      Interest income C.3.1.  51,125  42,324
      Interest expense C.3.1.  44,249  53,608
      Charges for (recovery of) loan impairment C.2.4., C.3.2.  2,231  (2,803)
Net interest income (expense) after loan impairment charges  4,645  (8,481)
      Commission income C.3.3.  2,989  4,734
      Commission expense C.3.3.  1,375  391
Net commission income (expense)  1,614  4,343
Net gains (losses) from financial assets/liabilities at fair value through
profit or loss and hedge accounting C.3.4.  51,623  93,801
Other income (expense) C.3.5.  27,014 10,886
Net Revenue  84,896 100,549

      Employee compensation and benefits C.3.6.  42,213 53,775
      Administrative and general  7,948  9,899
      Computer and communication  8,224  9,016
      Occupancy  3,988  3,780
      Professional and consulting fees  8,681  9,985
      Depreciation and amortization C.2.7.  2,290  2,407
Total operating expenses  73,344 88,862

Profit (loss) before taxes  11,552  11,687

Tax expense (income) C.3.7.  6,979  (1,081)
Transfer from other comprehensive income (loss) to profit (loss) C.3.8.  (392) -
Profit (loss) for the year  4,181  12,768

Other comprehensive income (loss), net of tax
May be subsequently reclassified to profit (loss)
      Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations,
      net of hedging  (347)  246
Will not be reclassified to profit (loss)
      Actuarial gains (losses) in defined benefit pension schemes C.2.10.  (778)  (487)
Other comprehensive income (loss) for the year, net of tax C.3.8.  (1,125)  (241)

Total comprehensive income (loss) for the year 3,056  12,527

Profit (loss) attributable to shareholders  4,181  12,768
Total comprehensive income (loss) attributable to shareholders  3,056  12,527
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4. Consolidated statement of cash flows

€ ’000 | Year ended September 30 Note 2013 2012

Operating activities
Profit (loss) for the year  4,181  12,768
Add (deduct) items not affecting cash C.4.3.  14,400  3,745
Changes in operating assets C.4.3.  (2,694,248)  1,946,333
Changes in operating liabilities C.4.3.  2,819,259  (1,907,675)
Changes in current tax assets and liabilities  (82,703)  (138,126)
Net (gains) losses from investing activities  37  95
Net (gains) losses from financing activities  (404)  2,290
Net cash flows from operating activities  60,522  (80,570)

Investing activities
Purchase of property, plant and equipment C.2.7.  (769)  (778)
Purchase of intangible assets C.2.7.  (2,861)  (1,246)
Proceeds from sale of property, plant and equipment 35  466
Net cash flows from investing activities  (3,595)  (1,558)

Financing activities
Cash flows from subordinated debt  (1,113)  (1,481)
Cash flows from puttable shares  (11,869)  2,913
Redemption of shares  (5,043)  -
Net cash flows from financing activities (18,025)  1,432

Effect of exchange rate changes on cash and cash equivalents  (1,945)  2,292
Net increase (decrease) in cash and cash equivalents 36,957  (78,404)

Cash and cash equivalents, beginning of year 48,770  127,174
Cash and cash equivalents, end of year 85,727  48,770

For additional details about the consolidated statement of cash flows see note C.4.3.



MAPLE FINANCIAL GROUP INC. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

All amounts in thousands, except where otherwise noted 9

C. NOTES TO THE CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS

1. General disclosures

1.1. Corporate information

Address and registered office:
Maple Financial Group Inc.
79 Wellington Street West
Suite 3500
Toronto, Canada M5K 1K7

(hereafter called “MFGI” or the “Company”)

MFGI is a privately owned Canadian company that operates through subsidiaries primarily in
Germany, the United States, Canada and the United Kingdom and is the ultimate parent company of
the group.  The Company is  active in the equity,  fixed income and associated derivatives markets in
these locations, focused on providing structured solutions for the needs of its customers and market-
neutral trading for its own account. The proprietary trading business is based on statistical models
analyzing the relative value of securities, or the mispricing of related securities. The Company also has
a secured lending business to support its structured customer business, a receivables financing
business and a securitization business in Canada. In order to meet the needs of the business lines, the
Company has an active global securities finance business and a sophisticated treasury operation.

The consolidated financial statements were authorized for issue in accordance with a resolution of the
board of directors on February 10, 2014.

1.2. Accounting policies

Basis of preparation

The consolidated financial statements of MFGI for the financial year ended September 30, 2013 have
been prepared on a going concern basis and in accordance with International Financial Reporting
Standards issued by the International Accounting Standards Board (“IASB”) and interpretations
issued by the International Financial Reporting Interpretations Committee of the IASB (together,
“IFRS”).

The Company’s functional currency is the Euro. These financial statements are presented in thousand
Euro (€ ‘000), except where otherwise indicated.

The Company presents its assets and liabilities in order of liquidity.
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Use of estimates and assumptions

IFRS requires management to use estimates and assumptions that affect the recognition and
measurement of positions reported in the consolidated financial statements. Actual future outcomes
could differ from those estimates.

The accounting for
- financial instruments (see note C.4.1.),
- income taxes (see note C.2.8. and C.3.7.),
- loan impairments (see note C.2.4.),
- employee benefits (see note C.2.10.),
- liabilities from puttable shares (see note C.2.12.), and
- contingent liabilities (see note C.4.5.)

are areas where management used such estimates and assumptions.

In addition to these estimates and assumptions, the Company made the following discretionary
decisions in respect of the classification of financial instruments:

- the category “available-for-sale” is only used for unquoted equity investments, and
- the designation of financial liabilities at fair value through profit or loss under the fair value

option is not used.

Summary of significant accounting policies

The following describes the significant accounting policies used by the Company:

Principles of consolidation

The consolidated statement of financial position includes assets, liabilities and results of operations for
MFGI and its subsidiaries (including special purpose entities [“SPEs”]) after elimination of intra-group
transactions and balances. Subsidiaries are entities that are controlled by the Company. In
determining the scope of consolidated entities, control is determined if a company has the power to
govern the financial and operating policies of the entity so as to obtain benefits from its activities.

SPEs are included in the scope of consolidated entities when the substance of the relationship between
an entity and the SPE indicates that the SPE is controlled by that entity.

The financial year end of all consolidated entities is September 30, 2013. For a list of the consolidated
entities see note C.4.7.

Foreign currency translation

The assets, liabilities, income and expenses of each of the Company’s subsidiaries are measured using
the currency of the primary economic environment in which the subsidiary operates (“functional
currency”). The consolidated financial statements are presented in Euro, which is the Company’s
presentation currency.

Transactions and balances in foreign currencies are translated in accordance with the principles set
forth  in  IAS 21,  “The Effects  of  Changes  in  Foreign Exchange Rates”.  The standard requires  that  all
monetary assets and liabilities denominated in currencies other than the subsidiaries functional
currency be translated at the spot exchange rate on the reporting date in the functional currency. The



MAPLE FINANCIAL GROUP INC. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

All amounts in thousands, except where otherwise noted 11

standard requires that income and expenses denominated in foreign currencies be translated at the
spot exchange rate when they are recognized.

Foreign exchange gains and losses resulting from the settlement of foreign exchange transactions and
from the translation of monetary assets and liabilities denominated in foreign currencies are
recognized in net revenue in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income, except for
transactions that qualify as effective net investment hedges. The results of effective net investment
hedges are recorded in other comprehensive income (“OCI”).

Where the functional currency of a subsidiary is not Euro, the subsidiary’s financial statements are
translated into Euro. The subsidiary’s assets and liabilities are translated at spot exchange rates;
income and expenses are translated at average exchange rates.  Translation differences arising from
the difference in exchange rates are included in OCI.

Classification and measurement of financial instruments

All regular way purchases of financial instruments and all derivative financial instruments are
initially recognized on a trade-date basis.

In accordance with IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”, the Company
classifies each financial instrument at initial recognition in one of the following categories: financial
asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss, loans and receivables, held-to-maturity
investments, available-for-sale financial assets and other financial liabilities. The available-for-sale
category is only used for unquoted equity investments. The classification depends on the purpose and
the business for which the financial assets are purchased or the financial liabilities are entered into.

The category financial asset or financial liability at fair value through profit or loss includes the
subcategories financial asset or financial liability held for trading and financial asset or financial
liability designated at fair value (fair value option). The Company classifies financial instruments as
held for trading if either they are purchased or sold with the intention to sell or purchase in the near
future or if they are part of a portfolio of financial instruments that are managed together and for
which there is evidence of a recent actual pattern of short-term profit taking. The held for trading
category is used for the majority of securities, cash received or advanced under repurchase and
reverse repurchase agreements and cash collateral received or advanced under securities lending
agreements. Derivative financial instruments are classified as held for trading by definition, except for
derivative financial instruments that are designated and effective hedge instruments. The Company
designates financial assets at fair value if the financial assets are part of a portfolio, which is managed
and reported to management on a fair value basis. Financial instruments classified as held for trading
or designated at fair value are measured at fair value.

Equity investments of the Company, which are classified as available-for-sale, are those which are not
classified as held for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. Such investments are
subsequently measured at fair value, if a fair value can be reliably estimated, with resulting unrealized
gains and losses recognized directly in equity (OCI). If the fair value cannot be reliably estimated, the
investment continues to be recorded at cost. When the investment is disposed of, the cumulative gain
or loss previously recognized in equity is recognized in comprehensive income. At each reporting
date, the Company assesses whether there is objective evidence that the equity investment is
impaired.
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Loans and receivables are non-derivative financial assets with fixed or determinable payments that are
not quoted in an active market. An active market exists if quoted prices are readily and regularly
available from an exchange, dealer, broker, pricing service or regulatory agency and those prices
represent actual and regularly occurring market transactions on an arm’s length basis. Loans and
receivables are recognized initially at fair value plus transaction costs and, thereafter, measured at
amortized cost using the effective interest method, less impairment charges, if any.

Non-derivative financial instruments with fixed or determinable payments and fixed maturities are
classified as held-to-maturity if the Company has the intention and ability to hold the investment to
maturity. Financial instruments in this category are recognized initially at fair value plus any
transaction costs and, thereafter, measured at amortized cost using the effective interest method, less
impairment charges, if any. The Company uses this category for bonds that are intended to be held to
maturity and are traded on an active market at initial recognition.

Financial liabilities other than those classified as held for trading are measured at amortized cost using
the effective interest method. The Company uses this category, for example, for customer deposits and
subordinated debt.

Fair value measurement

Fair  value  is  the  amount  for  which  an  asset  could  be  exchanged  or  a  liability  settled  between
knowledgeable and willing parties in an arm’s length transaction (other than in a forced or liquidation
sale). Where fair values cannot be derived from active markets they are determined using a variety of
valuation techniques. The inputs to these models are derived from observable market data where
possible. The objective of using such valuation techniques is to establish what the transaction price
would have been on the measurement date in an arm’s length transaction.

Where observable market data is not available, judgment is required to establish fair values and the
nature  of  such  judgment  is  subject  to  discretion.  The  Company  discloses  significant  judgments  and
uncertainties in the applicable section of these notes.

Financial instruments measured at fair value are classified in a fair value hierarchy that reflects the
significance of the inputs used in making the measurements. The fair value hierarchy is as follows:

Level 1 – Valuation based on quoted market prices.
Level 2 – Valuation based on observable market information as inputs.
Level 3 – Valuation based on significant un-observable market information as inputs.

The Company calculates fair values based on the following methods and assumptions:

Financial  instruments  with  fixed  or  determinable  cash  flows  not  quoted  on  an  active  market  -  fair
value is calculated by discounting future contractual cash flows using market interest rates and/or
credit curves currently offered for similar financial instruments and that have the same term to
maturity (level 2). For certain financial assets and financial liabilities that are short-term in nature or
contain variable rate features, the fair value corresponds to the carrying value.
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Financial instruments with determinable cash flows not quoted on an active market are included in
the following lines of the statement of financial positions

- cash collateral advanced and received under securities lending agreements,
- cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements and cash received under repurchase

agreements,
- loans and receivables due from clients and from brokers and financial institutions,
- due to clients and to brokers and financial institutions,
- securitized assets and liabilities from securitization transactions,
- other financial instruments,
- customer deposits,
- subordinated debt, and
- liabilities from puttable shares.

Securities owned, securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral and securities sold short - fair
value is based on quoted market prices (level 1). Where quoted market prices are not readily available,
quoted market prices of similar securities or other third-party evidence or valuation techniques that
incorporate assumptions based primarily on observable market inputs are used (level 2). If fair value
calculations are based on significant input parameters not readily observable in the market the
security is classified in level 3.

Derivative financial instruments - fair value is based on quoted market prices where available
(level 1). Otherwise, fair value is determined using valuation models that incorporate assumptions
based on inputs observed in external markets, such as current market prices and contractual prices of
the underlying instruments, interest rate curves, credit curves, foreign exchange rates, as well as price
and rate volatility factors (level 2). When one or more significant inputs are not observable in the
market, fair value is based on internal estimates and data, taking into account valuation policies,
economic conditions, the specific characteristics of the transaction or other relevant factors (level 3).
Fair  value of  derivative financial  instruments is  determined by taking into account credit  risk of  the
Company and the counterparty, the measurement of the current or future market value of the
transactions, as well as credit risk mitigation measures.

Puttable shares - fair value is the amount at which the shares are expected to be redeemed. This
amount is equal to the carrying value.

The estimated fair value amounts are designed to approximate amounts at which the financial
instrument could be exchanged in a transaction between knowledgeable and willing parties under
normal conditions. However, certain of the Company's financial instruments lack an active trading
market. Therefore, the fair value amounts shown are based on present value techniques which are
affected  by  the  assumptions  used  regarding  the  timing  of  future  cash  flows  and  discount  rates  that
reflect varying degrees of risk. As a result, the fair value amounts should not be interpreted as being
necessarily realizable in the event of the immediate settlement of the instruments.
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Trade-date profits or losses

Trade-date profits or losses are recognized when a calculated fair value, using accepted valuation
models that are based on observable market parameters, differs from the transaction price at the time
of initial recognition. These profits or losses are recognized in net gains (losses) from financial
assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and hedge accounting. If there are significant
unobservable market parameters used in the valuation technique as of the trade-date, the financial
instrument is recognized at the transaction price and any trade-date profit is deferred.  The Company
did not incur trade-date profits or losses resulting from significant unobservable market parameters.

Impairment of financial assets

The Company maintains an allowance for loan losses which, in management's opinion, is considered
adequate to absorb all incurred credit-related losses in its loan portfolios (incurred loss model).

A financial asset or a group of financial assets is impaired, and impairment losses are incurred, if
- there is objective evidence of impairment due to loan deterioration as a result of one or more

events that occurred after the initial recognition of the asset (a “loss event”),
- that  loss  event  (or  events)  has  an impact  on the  estimated future  cash flows of  the  financial

asset or group of financial assets, and
- impairment losses can be reliably estimated.

Evidence of impairment may include indications that the borrower or a group of borrowers is
experiencing significant financial difficulties, increasing the probability of default or delinquency in
interest or principal repayments or that they will enter into bankruptcy or other financial
reorganizations.

Losses as a result of future events are not recognized.

The amount of the impairment is defined as the difference between amortized cost and the present
value  of  future  cash  flows  of  the  loan  and/or  collateral.  The  present  value  of  a  fixed  rate  loan  is
determined by discounting the expected future cash flows using the original effective interest rate. If
the loan has a variable interest rate, the discount rate for measuring any impairment loss is the current
effective interest rate determined under the contract.

The Company uses an allowance account for credit-related losses of individually significant loans.
Specific allowances are determined on an item-by-item basis and reflect the associated estimated
credit loss and the amount which management considers necessary to reduce an impaired loan to its
estimated realizable value.

Loans, which are individually significant but not impaired and loans which are not significant are
analyzed collectively to determine if general allowances for credit losses have to be recognized to
absorb incurred losses in the Company’s portfolios which are not yet evident.

Loans are written off against the associated allowance or income when the Company determines that
no further efforts of recovery are justified and all collateral has been realized or transferred to the
Company.
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Repurchase and reverse repurchase agreements

Repurchase agreements consist of the sale of a security with a commitment to repurchase the security
from  the  original  purchaser  at  a  specified  price  and  date.  The  securities  sold  do  not  qualify  for
derecognition since the Company retains the risks and rewards of ownership (risk of change in fair
value). Therefore, the Company continues to recognize these securities as financial instruments in the
same category they were initially classified.

Securities purchased under reverse repurchase agreements consist of the purchase of a security with a
commitment to resell the security to the original seller at a specified price and date. The securities
purchased do not qualify for recognition since the Company does not incur risks and rewards of
ownership (risk of change in fair value).

Securities lending and borrowing agreements

Loaned securities continue to be recognized as financial instruments in the same category they were
initially classified because the Company retains the risks and rewards of ownership (risk of change in
fair value). For the same reason, borrowed securities are not recognized in the consolidated statement
of  financial  position  unless  the  borrowed  securities  are  sold  short  to  the  market.  In  this  case  the
obligation to return the securities is disclosed in securities sold short in the consolidated statement of
financial position.

Securities borrowing and lending agreements are collateralized by securities or cash. Cash collateral
advanced or received is recorded as an asset or liability, respectively.

Mortgage loans securitization

The Company purchases insured Canadian residential mortgage loans from third-party originators
and periodically securitizes them through the Canada Mortgage and Housing Corporation-sponsored
mortgage-backed securities and the Canada Mortgage Bond programs. At the time of transfer, the
Company surrenders control of the transferred assets. The buyers do not have recourse to the
Company's other assets.

The transfer of the mortgage loans does not result in a derecognition of the mortgage loans from the
Company’s consolidated statement of financial position. The mortgage loans continue to be classified
as loans and receivables and are shown as securitized assets. The securitization transaction results in
the recognition of securitization liabilities, which are classified as other financial liabilities. The
securitized assets and the securitization liabilities are measured at amortized cost. The interest rate
risk for both the securitized assets and the securitization liabilities is hedged with interest rate swaps
or other derivative financial instruments. For these transactions, hedge accounting is applied.

Derivative financial instruments and hedge accounting

Derivative financial instruments include futures, options, forwards, swaps and swaptions transacted
in the interest rate, foreign exchange, equity and credit markets. Under IAS 39, all derivatives are
classified as held for trading, except when they are used for hedge accounting purposes.

Derivative financial instruments classified as held for trading are entered into by the Company to
meet the needs of its clients or to hedge proprietary trading positions.
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In order to manage interest rate risk from loans and receivables or other financial liabilities (primarily
customer deposits and subordinated debt), the Company enters into interest rate derivatives which
are designated in a fair value hedge. In order to qualify for hedge accounting, the hedging relationship
is designated and formally documented at inception, outlining the risk management objective and
strategy, the specific asset or liability being hedged and the method of assessing hedge effectiveness.
The derivative financial instrument and the underlying exposure must be highly and inversely
correlated such that changes in the value of the derivative financial instrument will substantially offset
the effects of the underlying exposure throughout the term of the hedging relationship.

Hedge accounting requires that gains, losses, revenues and expenses of a hedging instrument be
recognized in the same period that the associated gains, losses, revenues and expenses of the hedged
item are recognized.

Hedge effectiveness is assessed both at inception and on an on-going basis. Hedge ineffectiveness
results when changes in the fair value of the derivative financial instruments used for hedging
purposes differ from changes in the fair value of the hedged item attributable to the hedged risk. The
amount of ineffectiveness is recorded in net gains (losses) from financial assets/liabilities at fair value
through profit or loss and hedge accounting.

The Company hedges its net investments in self-sustaining foreign operations to mitigate foreign
exchange risk on its net investments in such operations.  For these transactions, the Company applies
hedge accounting by designating derivative financial instruments. The effective portion of the changes
in fair value of the derivative financial instruments used for hedging purposes and based on changes
in foreign exchange rates is included in OCI. When the net investments in self-sustaining foreign
operations are reduced or sold, proportionate gains or losses in OCI are transferred to income. The
ineffective portion of the hedge transaction is recognized immediately in net revenue.

Offsetting financial instruments

Financial assets and financial liabilities are offset and the net amount reported in the statement of
financial position if there is a legally enforceable right to offset the recognized amounts and there is
the intention to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset and settle the liability simultaneously.

Employee benefits

A subsidiary of the Company sponsors a defined benefit pension plan for its employees. The cost of
benefits earned by the employees participating in the defined benefit pension plan is actuarially
determined using the projected unit credit method prorated on service and is charged as an expense
as services are rendered. This cost reflects management's best estimate of salary escalations, mortality
of plan members, terminations and the ages at which members will retire. Actuarial gains and losses
are recognized in OCI and reported in retained earnings in the same period.

On  October  1,  2012  the  Company  introduced  a  new  compensation  policy  which  governs  the
compensation for senior employees. For financial years until September 30, 2012, the share based
compensation was based on the Amended Executive Restricted Share Unit [“RSU”] Plan. RSUs will
not be granted for financial years beyond September 30, 2012.
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Under the new compensation policy the variable compensation elements of certain senior employees
and traders are partly deferred and paid in equal annual installments over the following three years.
The  payment  of  the  deferred  amounts  depends  on  the  change  in  the  book  value  per  share  of  the
Company. All deferred but unpaid variable compensation elements are dependent on the future
performance of the Company (change in book value per share), which may result in the partial or total
loss of variable compensation elements that have been allocated, but not yet disbursed. There are no
service conditions for the respective employees.

This deferred compensation agreement is treated as other long-term benefits in accordance with
IAS 19, “Employee benefits”. At initial recognition the Company measures the liability at fair value.
The fair value of the liability is remeasured at the end of each reporting period and at the date of
settlement, with any changes in fair value recognized in profit or loss for the period.

The  RSUs  granted  until  fiscal  year  2012  vest  after  a  period  of  two  to  four  years.  After  the  vesting
period, recipients of RSUs are entitled to exchange one RSU for one Class C common share of the
Company. Certain of the Class C common shares are classified as puttable shares.

RSUs are accounted for in accordance with IFRS 2, “Share based payments”. Accordingly, the fair
value of the RSUs is accrued in employee compensation and benefits expense over the vesting period.
The original fair value is determined at the grant date. Fair value is based on observable transactions
in shares of the Company. Observable transaction prices within a predetermined period prior to the
reporting date are used to derive a valuation multiple (price/book multiple) that is used to determine
the fair value of shares under the RSU plan on grant date and reporting date.

In cases where recipients of RSUs have the option to receive cash in lieu of shares (cash-settled plans)
or puttable shares, the amount of accrued employee compensation and benefits expense is recognized
as a liability. This liability is remeasured at each reporting date at fair value for cash-settled plans and
at the discounted future redemption amount for plans settled in puttable shares. In cases where
recipients of RSUs will receive non-puttable shares (equity-settled plans), the amount of accrued
employee compensation and benefits expense is added to contributed surplus without revaluation.

Cancellations of RSUs are accounted for as accelerated vesting. Any payment made to the employee is
recorded as a deduction from equity with the difference between the fair  value of  the RSUs and the
payment recognized in employee compensation and benefits.

Property, plant and equipment

Property, plant and equipment are stated at cost less accumulated depreciation and accumulated
impairment,  if  any.  Changes  in  the  expected  useful  lives  are  accounted  for  by  changing  the
amortization period or method. The depreciation amount is calculated using the straight-line or
diminishing balance method to write down the cost of the assets to their residual values over their
estimated useful lives as follows:

- Computer hardware: 3 to 5 years
- Furniture and equipment: 5 to 20 years

Items of property, plant and equipment are derecognized on disposal or when no future economic
benefits are expected from their use.
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Intangible assets

The Company’s intangible assets include computer software. An intangible asset is recognized only
when its cost can be measured reliably and it is probable that the expected future economic benefits
attributable to it will flow to the Company. Intangible assets are measured at cost on initial
recognition. Subsequently, they are carried at cost less accumulated amortization and accumulated
impairment losses,  if  any.  Amortization begins when the asset  is  available for use.  The useful  life  of
the computer software is finite. Consequently, computer software is amortized over the useful
economic  life  (3  to  5  years).  Changes  in  expected  useful  life  are  accounted  for  by  changing  the
amortization period or method and are treated as changes in accounting estimates. Amortization is
calculated using the straight-line method.

Current and deferred taxes

Income taxes are accounted for in accordance with IAS 12, “Income Taxes”. Accordingly, with only a
few exceptions listed in this standard, deferred taxes are recognized for temporary differences
between the carrying amount and the tax bases of assets and liabilities. Temporary differences result
from different recognition and/or measurement methods between IFRS and the applicable tax code.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are measured at the tax rates that are expected to apply in the period
when the asset is realized or the liability is settled, based on tax rates and tax laws that have been
enacted or substantively enacted at the end of the reporting period. Deferred tax assets are only
recognized when it is probable that taxable profit will be available against the temporary difference
that can be utilized.

Deferred tax assets and liabilities are recognized according to the underlying temporary difference. If
the temporary difference results from amounts recognized in OCI, the tax impact is also recognized in
OCI. Deferred tax assets or liabilities are not discounted.

The  Company  also  applies  IAS  12  for  the  recognition  and  measurement  of  uncertain  tax  positions.
Under the standard, applying a one-step approach, each uncertain tax position is recognized and the
measurement reflects the likelihood of the position being realized. In specific tax cases, this approach
could result in a binary decision, i.e. the Company can recover the whole amount or nothing.

Current tax assets and liabilities are presented on a net basis if a legally enforceable right to set off the
recognized amounts exists and it is the intention either to settle on a net basis, or to realize the asset
and settle the liability simultaneously. Deferred tax assets and liabilities are offset if a legally
enforceable right exists to set off deferred tax assets against deferred tax liabilities and the deferred
taxes relate to the same taxable entity and same taxation authority.

Other reserves

Other reserves include exchange differences arising from the translation of foreign operations net of
hedging and unrealized gains (losses) from the valuation of investments classified as available-for-
sale.

Exchange differences on the translation of foreign operations are set up to record changes from the
translation of foreign currency assets or liabilities to the reporting currency without effecting profit or
loss. This reserve also includes the effective portion of the gains or losses from hedges of net
investments in foreign operations, net of income taxes.
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Puttable shares

Under IAS 32, “Financial Instruments: Presentation” an equity instrument is defined as any contract
that evidences a residual interest in the Company’s assets after deducting all of its liabilities. A
puttable equity instrument includes a contractual obligation of the Company to repurchase or redeem
the equity instrument for cash or another financial asset on exercise of the puttable instrument. With
only  a  few  exceptions  (IAS  32.16A)  these  instruments  have  to  be  included  in  liabilities  and  not  in
equity. This liability is classified as other financial liability and measured at amortized cost.

Financial guarantees and loan commitments

Financial  guarantees  (as  defined  in  IAS  39)  are  initially  recorded  at  fair  value.  The  fair  value  at
inception is equal to the premium received. Subsequently, these guarantees are measured at the
higher of the amount determined in accordance with the provisions in IAS 37, “Provisions, Contingent
Liabilities and Contingent Assets” and the amount initially recognized, less, when appropriate,
cumulative amortization recognized in accordance with IAS 18, ”Revenue”.

Loan commitments usually represent contingent liabilities. If required, the Company recognizes a
provision in accordance with IAS 37.

Financial guarantees and loan commitments represent a separate class of financial instruments in
accordance with IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”.

Components of net revenue in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income

Interest income and expense - For all financial instruments classified as loans and receivables, held-to-
maturity investments and other financial liabilities, interest income and expense is recorded using the
effective interest method. The effective interest method is a method of calculating the amortized cost
of a financial instrument and of allocating the interest income or expense over the relevant period
using the estimated cash flows. The estimated cash flows include all premiums and discounts as well
as all fees associated with the financial instrument. If a derivative is designated in an effective hedge
accounting relationship, the interest component of the derivative is also included in interest income or
expense.

Commission income and expense - The commission income and expense includes all fees which are
not associated with financial instruments classified as held for trading. The Company primarily
records arrangement fees received for transactions between third parties and servicing fees paid for
the mortgage securitization portfolio on these lines. These fees are recognized on the completion of the
transaction or when the service is performed.

Net  gains  (losses)  from  financial  assets/liabilities  at  fair  value  through  profit  or  loss  and  hedge
accounting - Results arising from financial instruments categorized as held for trading or designated
at fair value include the realized results and all gains and losses from changes in fair value and related
interest income and dividends, as well as the valuation impacts from hedge accounting relationships.
Dividend income is recognized when the Company’s right to receive the payment is established.

Other income (expense) – This component is used for all other sources of income that are not
recognized in any of the net revenue components above. This may include net gains (losses) from the
sale or disposal of financial instruments classified as loans and receivables, other financial liabilities,
as well as other income or other expense.
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New standards adopted and standards issued but not yet mandatory

The following describes the changes to IFRS which are relevant to the Company and have been
adopted in the financial year ending September 30, 2013:

IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”
Amendments to IAS 1 require that other comprehensive income be classified by nature and grouped
into those that, in accordance with other IFRS, may and will not be subsequently reclassified to profit
or  loss.  This  amendment  is  effective  for  annual  periods  beginning  on  or  after  July  1,  2012.  The
Company presents the components of other comprehensive income based on the new groupings on an
after tax basis. Pre-tax amounts are disclosed in note C.3.8. In previous years the tax expense (income)
relating to components of other comprehensive income has been disclosed separately in other
comprehensive income. The Company is of the opinion that the new presentation provides more
relevant information.

Standards that have been issued and are not yet mandatory but could have a significant impact on the
Company’s financial statements are analyzed below.

Generally, the Company has decided not to make use of early adoption alternatives of these standards
where permitted.

IAS 19, “Employee Benefits”
In 2011, the IASB published a revised version of IAS 19. Entities are no longer permitted to apply the
corridor method. Other changes relate to the classification and recognition of partial retirement plans
as well as additional note disclosures related to employee benefits. This revised standard will become
effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013.

The changes from the revised standard will not have a material impact on the consolidated statement
of financial position and consolidated statement of comprehensive income because the Company
already recognizes changes to defined benefit obligations directly in OCI. The Company has decided
not to apply the revised standard before its effective date.

IAS 32, “Financial Instruments: Presentation” (amendment)
The IASB released an amendment to IAS 32 to clarify the application of the requirements to offset
financial assets with financial liabilities. The amendments are effective for annual periods beginning
on or after January 1, 2014 with early adoption permitted. The Company does not expect a significant
impact on its accounting practices and has decided not to apply this standard before its effective date.

IFRS 7, “Financial Instruments: Disclosures”
The IASB published amendments to this standard that require information about all recognized
financial instruments that are set off in accordance with IAS 32.42, “Financial Instruments:
Presentation”. The new requirements are effective for annual periods beginning on or after
January 1, 2013. The Company will disclose in a separate table the gross amounts of those recognized
assets  and  recognized  liabilities,  the  amounts  that  are  set  off,  the  net  amounts  in  the  statement  of
financial position, the amounts related to recognized financial instruments that do not meet the
offsetting criteria and the related collateral. The Company has decided not to apply this standard
before its effective date.
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IFRS 9, “Financial Instruments: Classification and Measurement”
The IASB intends to replace IAS 39, “Financial Instruments: Recognition and Measurement”. In
November 2009 the IASB published IFRS 9 relating to the classification and measurement of financial
assets (phase 1). In October 2010 the IASB published the requirements related to the classification and
measurement  of  financial  liabilities.   An  exposure  draft  of  an  amendment  to  the  standard  was
published in November 2012 in which a further class of financial instruments (fair value through OCI)
was proposed. Comprehensive discussions are still ongoing.

For phase 1, the Company expects a significant impact on the classification of financial instruments
but not a significant impact on measurement and, therefore, on profit or loss.

In March 2013 the IASB issued a re-exposure draft on the accounting for expected credit losses from
financial instruments (phase 2). In September 2012 the IASB published a re-exposure draft on hedge
accounting (phase 3), except for macro hedging, which is treated separately from IFRS 9. In November
2013 the IASB issued the final  version of  the hedge accounting requirements.  The impact  of  phase 2
and phase 3 cannot be estimated.

The IASB has delayed the January 1,  2015 mandatory effective date of  IFRS 9.  The board tentatively
decided that the new mandatory effective date will be no earlier than annual periods beginning on or
after January 1, 2017. Due to the uncertainties connected with the ongoing process, the Company has
decided not to adopt IFRS 9 early.

IFRS 10, “Consolidated Financial Statements”
IFRS 11, “Joint Arrangements”
IFRS 12, “Disclosure of Interests in Other Entities”
With  these  standards,  the  IASB  has  revised  the  principles  of  consolidation.  IFRS  10  replaces  the
portion of IAS 27, “Consolidated and Separate Financial Statements” that addresses the accounting for
consolidated financial statements and SIC-12, “Consolidation – Special Purpose Entities”. IFRS 10 has
established “control” as the single principle for consolidation. An investor controls an investee when it
is exposed, or has rights, to variable returns from its involvement with the investee and has the ability
to affect those returns through its power over the investee.

The standards are effective for annual periods beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early
adoption permitted. The Company does not expect changes to its scope of consolidated entities or to
the  accounting  methods  of  its  subsidiaries.  The  Company  has  decided  not  to  adopt  the  standards
before their stated effective date.

IFRS 13, “Fair Value Measurement”
The IASB consolidated the rules for fair value measurement from different locations within multiple
standards to this single standard, issued in 2011. The standard will be effective for annual periods
beginning on or after January 1, 2013, with early adoption permitted. IFRS 13 introduces revised
definitions and enhanced disclosure requirements for fair value measurements. The Company does
not expect a significant impact from the implementation of the standard. The Company has decided
not to apply this standard before its stated effective date.
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Annual Improvements to IFRS 2009-2011 Cycle, 2010-2012 Cycle and 2011- 2013 Cycle
In May 2012 (2009-2011 Cycle) the IASB issued amendments to IFRS. These amendments are effective
for annual periods starting on or after January 1, 2013. They include the following changes:

IAS 1, “Presentation of Financial Statements”
This improvement clarifies the difference between voluntary additional comparative information and
the minimum required comparative information. Generally, the minimum required comparative
information is the previous period.

IAS 32, “Financial Instruments: Presentation”
This improvement clarifies that income taxes arising from distributions to equity holders are
accounted for in accordance with IAS 12, “Income Taxes”.

In December 2013 the IASB issued further amendments (2010-2012 Cycle and 2011- 2013 Cycle) to
existing IFRS. The amendments contain mainly clarifications of several IFRS and are effective for
annual periods beginning on or after July 1, 2014.

The adoption of the amendments will not have a material impact on the Company’s financial
statements.



MAPLE FINANCIAL GROUP INC. CONSOLIDATED FINANCIAL STATEMENTS
NOTES

All amounts in thousands, except where otherwise noted 23

2. Consolidated statement of financial position related disclosures

2.1. Cash and cash equivalents

Cash and cash equivalents include cash on hand, bank accounts, demand deposits and highly liquid
investments  that  are  readily  convertible  to  cash  and  which  are  subject  to  an  insignificant  risk  of
change in value.

2.2. Securities

Securities owned, securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral and securities sold short
include money market, fixed income, and equity instruments.  Securities owned are classified as held
for trading or designated at fair value through profit or loss. Securities owned and loaned or pledged
as collateral and securities sold short are classified as held for trading.

The  following  table  shows  the  fair  value  of  securities  owned  and  securities  owned  and  loaned  or
pledged as collateral by product type:

€ ´000 2013 2012

Securities owned
Money market 156,902 14
Fixed income 733,442 768,539
Equities 339,117 456,122
Total 1,229,461 1,224,675

Securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral
Fixed income 1,569,277 1,398,387
Equities 755,403 103,878
Total 2,324,680 1,502,265

Securities owned include fixed income instruments of € 91,946 [2012 – € 191,959] and money market
instruments of € 156,902 [2012 – nil] which are designated at fair value.

Securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral include debt or equity instruments given where
the receiver has the right by contract or custom to sell or repledge the collateral.

The following table shows the fair value of securities sold short by product type:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Money market - 94
Fixed income 697,098 407,140
Equities 556,827 881,201
Total 1,253,925 1,288,435
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2.3. Derivative financial instruments

The Company enters into derivative transactions for trading and hedging purposes. These
transactions include options, futures, forwards, swaps and swaptions.

Options are contracts which give the acquirer, for a fee, the right, but not the obligation, to buy or sell
within a limited time a financial instrument or foreign currency at a contracted price.

Futures and forward contracts are commitments to buy or sell at a future date a derivative financial
instrument, equity, bond, commodity or foreign currency at a contracted price and may be settled
through cash or physical delivery.

Swaps are contracts that involve commitments between two parties to exchange a series of cash flows
based on a notional principal amount. A swaption is an option granting its owner the right but not the
obligation to enter into an underlying swap.

In interest rate swaps, the parties will exchange a fixed for a floating interest payment based on a
single  currency.  Interest  rate  swaps  also  include  the  exchange  of  the  total  return  on  a  bond  for  an
interest amount based on a short-term interest rate applied to the notional amount. For cross-currency
interest rate swaps, principal amounts and fixed and floating interest payments are exchanged in
different currencies.

In equity swaps, counterparties exchange, over an agreed period, the change in value of an equity
security or basket of equity securities, plus dividends, if any, for an interest amount based on a short-
term interest rate applied to the notional amount.

Credit derivatives are contracts that allow one party to transfer credit risk of a reference asset to one or
more other parties. A credit default swap is a contract whereby the seller will pay, or the buyer will
receive, a payment only if a specified credit event occurs. Typical credit events are bankruptcy,
insolvency, credit downgrade or failure to make a required scheduled payment. The Company is a
buyer and seller of credit derivatives on bonds of individual companies and diversified portfolios of
bonds.
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The following table presents the fair value of derivative financial instruments by product type:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Trading derivative financial instruments - assets
Foreign currency products 3,344 2,871
Interest rate products 14,458 18,945
Equity products 27,953 13,726
Credit default products 355 658

46,110 36,200

Hedging derivative financial instruments - assets
Foreign currency products 140 440
Interest rate products 39,312 52,751

39,452 53,191

Total derivative financial instruments – assets 85,562 89,391

Trading derivative financial instruments - liabilities
Foreign currency products 1,723 3,841
Interest rate products 30,073 51,069
Equity products 134,382 151,177
Credit default products 6,102 2,661

172,280 208,748

Hedging derivative financial instruments - liabilities
Foreign currency products 619 2
Interest rate products 8,127 2,500

8,746 2,502

Total derivative financial instruments – liabilities 181,026 211,250

The interest rate products designated in effective hedge accounting relationships consist mainly of
interest rate swaps and swaptions. The Company applies micro fair value hedge accounting. The
foreign currency products designated in a hedge of net investments in foreign operations consist
mainly of foreign exchange forward contracts.

The following table presents the notional amounts of derivative financial instruments:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Foreign currency products 1,143,791 1,059,021
Interest rate products 4,274,266 6,867,891
Equity products 1,862,539 1,098,202
Credit default products 225,892 1,734,900
Total 7,506,488 10,760,014
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Fair value hedges

With the use of fair value hedge accounting, the following amounts have been recognized in profit or
loss:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Gains (losses) on hedging instruments (13,917) 6,878
Gains (losses) on hedged items attributable to the hedged risk 16,613 (6,318)
Total 2,696 560

2.4. Loans and receivables

Loans and receivables and the related allowances for loan impairments are presented on a net basis in
the consolidated statement of financial position. The following table shows the associated gross
amounts:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Loans and receivables due from clients 338,296 225,249
Allowance for loan impairments 9,261 16,000
Net loans and receivables due from clients 329,035 209,249

Loans and receivables due from brokers and financial institutions 294,836 114,785
Allowance for loan impairments 3 -
Net loans and receivables due from brokers and financial institutions 294,833 114,785

Securitized assets 1,201,747 573,234
Allowance for loan impairments - -
Net securitized assets 1,201,747 573,234

Total net loans and receivables 1,825,615 897,268

Loans and receivables due from clients arise primarily from the Company’s collateralized lending
business. Due from brokers and financial institutions include unsettled trades, cash collateral
advanced for derivatives, margin for repurchase agreements and other broker balances. Securitized
asset details are presented in note C.2.5.
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The continuity of allowances for loan impairments from the Company’s collateralized lending
business is shown in the following table:

€ ‘000 Due from clients
Due from brokers and

financial institutions

Allowance for loan impairments as at October 1, 2012                     16,000                             -
Provision for loan impairments                       3,665                              3
Recoveries  (315) -
Amounts written off (9,434) -
Foreign currency translation effects and other (655) -
Allowance for loan impairments as at September 30, 2013 9,261 3

Allowance for loan impairments as at October 1, 2011 63,695 26,762
Provision for loan impairments 1,764 -
Recoveries (3,100) (1,467)
Amounts written off (47,878) (25,295)
Foreign currency translation effects and other 1,519 -
Allowance for loan impairments as at September 30, 2012 16,000 -

In addition to the recoveries presented above the Company received repayments for loans written off
of € 1,122 [2012 – nil].

2.5. Securitized assets and liabilities from securitization transactions

The following table presents the carrying value of securitized assets and liabilities from securitization
transactions:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Securitized assets, mortgage loans
Principal amount 1,188,346 555,636
Accrued interest 1,562 727
Unamortized premium paid 21,080 14,688
Hedge adjustment (9,241) 2,183
Total 1,201,747 573,234

Liabilities from securitization transactions, mortgage bonds issued
Principal amount 1,200,374 559,841
Accrued interest 1,647 366
Unamortized premium received 904 2,034
Hedge adjustment (14,513) 3,412
Total 1,188,412 565,653
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2.6. Other financial instruments and other assets

Other financial instruments include the following items:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Financial assets held for trading 61,810 -
Financial assets held-to-maturity 18,879 19,031
Financial assets available-for-sale 932 1,028
Total 81,621 20,059

The financial assets classified as held for trading include promissory notes and registered bonds
measured at fair value.

The financial assets held-to-maturity contain covered bonds.

The financial assets available-for-sale are unquoted equity instruments and are measured at cost.
Because there is no market, fair value cannot be reliably measured for these instruments. The
Company does not intend to dispose of these instruments in the near term.

Other assets include the following items:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Interest receivable on current tax assets 29,406 15,471
Deferred expenses 6,945 5,109
RSU receivable 67 3,185
Other 4,554 5,760
Total 40,972 29,525

2.7. Intangible assets and property, plant and equipment

Intangible assets include software purchased from third parties. Property, plant and equipment
include computer hardware, furniture and equipment. The continuity of intangible assets and
property, plant and equipment are shown below:

€ ‘000
Intangible

assets
Property, plant
and equipment

Carrying value as at October 1, 2012 3,475 3,713
Additions 2,861 769
Disposals 60 12
Depreciation and amortization 969 1,321
Impairment losses 110 -
Foreign currency translation effect (46) (64)
Carrying value as at September 30, 2013 5,151 3,085

Gross carrying value as at September 30, 2013 12,047 15,887
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 6,896 12,802
Carrying value as at September 30, 2013 5,151 3,085
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€ ‘000
Intangible

assets
Property, plant
and equipment

Carrying value as at October 1, 2011 5,946 4,607
Additions 1,246 778
Disposals 2,680 467
Depreciation and amortization 1,091 1,316
Foreign currency translation effect 54 111
Carrying value as at September 30, 2012 3,475 3,713

Gross carrying value at September 30, 2012 10,279 16,028
Accumulated depreciation and amortization 6,804 12,315
Carrying value as at September 30, 2012 3,475 3,713

2.8. Current and deferred tax assets and liabilities

Included in the consolidated statement of financial position are current tax assets of € 486,527 [2012 -
€ 406,468] and current tax liabilities of € 5,555 [2012 - € 7,704]. Current tax assets include € 471,823 of
withholding tax credits which are receivable from local tax authorities [2012 – € 376,473].

The following table shows deferred tax assets and deferred tax liabilities recorded in the consolidated
statement of financial position and deferred tax expense (income) recorded in the consolidated
statement of comprehensive income:

€’ 000
Deferred tax

assets
Deferred tax

liabilities
Tax expense

(income)
Deferred tax

assets
Deferred tax

liabilities
Tax expense

(income)
2013 2013 2013 2012 2012 2012

Loss
carryforward 12,333 (185) (3,105) 9,773 - (2,310)
Employee
benefits 9,978 (490) 4,867 15,206 (316) (4,829)
Loan
impairment - (27) 1,686 1,635 (106) 6,404
Securities and
derivatives 433 - 73 505 - (1,028)

Other assets (2,657) - 1,592 (1,065) - 1,065

Securitization - 4,920 2,382 - 2,895 2,795
Actuarial
valuation (492) - - (857) - -

Other timing
differences 380 (206) (380) 254 22 (314)

Total 19,975 4,012 7,115 25,451 2,495 1,783

Included in OCI is deferred tax expense (income) resulting from actuarial gains (losses) in defined
benefit pension schemes of (€ 365) [2012 – (€ 229)].

Deferred tax assets totaling € 18,546 [2012 – € 24,079] have been recognized in subsidiaries that
incurred losses in either the current or preceding period, and the utilization of such deferred tax asset
is dependent on future taxable profits in excess of the reversal of temporary differences. The losses
arise from identifiable causes and are non-recurring. The Company has estimated future earnings
based on a three-year forecast which includes the implementation of new strategies. The Company’s
management is of the opinion that future earnings projections are realistic.
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The following table shows the amounts and expiry dates of unused tax losses where no deferred tax
assets are recorded:

€ ‘000
Year of expiry 2013 2012

2022 2,841 2,967
2023 5,568 5,816
2024 1,491 1,558
2025 3,655 3,818
2029 - 351
2030 1,032 1,797
2032 7,963 10,012
2033 5,852 -
Unlimited 10,593 5,707
Total 38,995 32,026

The Company has temporary differences of € nil [2012 - € nil] on which it has not recorded deferred
tax assets.

2.9. Other financial liabilities

The following disclosures summarize liabilities classified as other liabilities (measured at amortized
cost), which include due to clients, due to brokers and financial institutions and customer deposits.

Due to clients and due to brokers and financial institutions

Due to clients and due to brokers and financial institutions include the following balances:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Due to clients
Current accounts/overnight deposits 16,069 37,380
Other 178 40
Total 16,247 37,420

Due to brokers and financial institutions
Unsettled trades 208,693 156,509
Deposits with agreed maturity 127,597 27,160
Cash collateral received for repurchase agreements 35,948 5,080
Current accounts/overnight deposits 11,425 68,651
Cash collateral received for derivative financial instruments 1,368 1,230
Other 5,774 3,158
Total 390,805 261,788

Amounts arising from unsettled trades are due by the settlement date of the related transaction.
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Customer deposits

The following table provides an analysis of customer deposits:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Short-term customer deposits 1,792,961 1,329,803
Thereof: hedge adjustment 628 601

Long-term customer deposits 315,529 388,263
Thereof: hedge adjustment 29,184 41,535

Total 2,108,490 1,718,066

The interest rate risk of the customer deposits is hedged with interest rate swaps which are designated
in an effective hedge accounting relationship.

The Company recognized a gain (loss) of € (84) [2012 - € 192] through early termination of customer
deposits.

2.10. Accounts payable and other liabilities

Accounts payable and other liabilities include the following:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Accounts payable 16,793 13,633
Employee benefits 49,083 65,562

Thereof: defined benefit pension plans 17,823 14,922
Thereof: RSUs 2,866 8,584

Total 65,876 79,195

Accounts payable relate to goods or services that have been supplied and invoiced, but not paid.

Pension obligations

A  subsidiary  of  the  Company  has  a  defined  benefit  pension  plan,  which  is  partially  funded.  The
pension obligation is fully accrued. Actuarial valuations are prepared annually with the last
measurement date of September 30, 2013. The subsidiary participates in a mandatory insurance
scheme, which provides payments to employees in the event of default by the subsidiary.

Pension obligations, the breakdown of pension liabilities and the underlying assumptions are as
follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Defined benefit obligation 19,086 16,133
Fair value of plan assets 1,263 1,211
Net pension obligation 17,823 14,922
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The continuity of the defined benefit obligation is as follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Defined benefit obligation, beginning of year 16,133 13,662
Current service cost 1,131 1,017
Interest cost 679 738
Actuarial (gains) losses 1,143 716
Pension payments - -
Defined benefit obligation, end of year 19,086 16,133

Accumulated actuarial gains are € 1,541 [2012 – € 2,684].

The continuity of the fair value of plan assets is as follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Fair value of plan assets, beginning of year 1,211 1,156
Actual return on plan assets 52 55
Contributions by employer - -
Fair value of plan assets, end of year 1,263 1,211

Plan assets relate to a qualified insurance policy that covers part of employees’ pension claims. The
expected  return  on  the  plan  assets  is  equal  to  the  expected  return  of  the  insurance  policy.  In  the
consolidated statement of financial position, the pension obligation is presented net of plan assets. The
Company does not expect to contribute to the defined benefit pension plan in 2014.

Pension expense for the defined benefit plan was as follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Current service cost 1,131 1,017
Interest cost 679 738
Amortization of past service cost - 7
Actual return on plan assets (52) (55)
Total pension expense for the year 1,758 1,707

Pension expense is included in employee compensation and benefits in the consolidated statement of
comprehensive income.

The actuarial valuation is based on the mortality tables of Heubeck 2005. Additional assumptions are
set out below:

Assumptions used 2013 2012

Discount rate 3.7% 4.2%
Rate of compensation increase 2.0% 2.0%
Escalation of payment benefits 2.0% 2.0%
Expected return on plan assets 3.7% 4.2%
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The defined benefit pension obligation and pension plan assets are as follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012 2011

Defined benefit obligation 19,086 16,133 13,662
Pension plan assets 1,263 1,211 1,156
Deficit 17,823 14,922 12,506
Experience gain (loss) on:

Pension plan obligations 1,004 421 92
Pension plan assets 2 (3) 7

The Company recorded expenses in the amount of € 838 [2012 - € 615] for defined contribution plans
to ensure post-retirement benefits for employees. Additionally, employees have the option to use
salary and contribute into a deferred compensation plan or various external post-retirement benefit
schemes. The Company invests these amounts externally and does not retain any financial obligations
to employees.

Share-based compensation

Included in accounts payable and other liabilities are liabilities for accrued compensation costs of
€ 2,866 [2012 - € 8,584] from the share-based compensation arrangement for senior employees. Upon
vesting,  recipients  of  RSUs  are  entitled  to  exchange  one  RSU  for  one  Class  C  common  share  of  the
Company.  Certain of  the class C common shares are classified as puttable shares.  It  is  expected that
half of the RSUs will be settled in cash.

The continuity of RSUs granted, exercised and outstanding is shown below:

Settled in
Number of RSUs Cash Equity Puttable shares Total

Outstanding as at October 1, 2012 1,326,081 1,157,151 168,930 2,652,162
Granted during the year 96,228 38,136 27,871 162,235
Replaced with cash payment (840,239) (840,241) - (1,680,480)
Exercised during the year (485,842) (316,910) (168,930) (971,682)
Reclassified to equity settled - 27,871 (27,871) -
Outstanding as at September 30, 2013 96,228 66,007 - 162,235

Outstanding as at October 1, 2011 3,562,213 2,656,087 906,126 7,124,426
Exercised during the year (2,236,132) (1,498,936) (737,196) (4,472,264)
Outstanding as at September 30, 2012 1,326,081 1,157,151 168,930 2,652,162

There were no RSUs exercisable at September 30, 2013 [2012 - nil].
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RSUs outstanding at September 30, 2013 are as follows:

Vesting date
Number of

RSUs awarded

Fair value at
grant date

(€ ‘000)

Fair value at
reporting date

(€ ‘000)
Fair value per

share in €

January 24, 2014 767,675 3,332 2,997 3.982
February 26, 2015 162,235 617 646 3.982

The grant of the RSUs vesting on January 24, 2014 is contingent on the favourable resolution of the tax
issue explained in note C.4.5. [“Notional RSUs”].  As stated in the note, the Company believes that the
issue will be resolved in its favour and has accrued a liability related to the contingent grant of RSUs.

The impact of RSUs and Notional RSUs on the consolidated statement of financial position and
consolidated statement of comprehensive income is shown in the table below:

€ ‘000 RSUs
Notional

RSUs Total

September 30, 2013

Accrual of vesting provisions included in compensation expense 2,632 960 3,592
Changes in contributed surplus (including impact of early vesting) (943) - (943)
Charge to retained earnings 502 - 502
Receivable for accrued compensation costs 67 - 67
Liability for accrued compensation costs 191 2,675 2,866
Unaccrued compensation cost 458 382 840

September 30, 2012

Accrual of vesting provisions included in compensation expense 6,910 1,124 8,034
Changes in contributed surplus 3,382 - 3,382
Charge to retained earnings 1,024 - 1,024
Receivable for accrued compensation costs 3,185 - 3,185
Liability for accrued compensation costs 7,460 1,124 8,584
Unaccrued compensation cost 1,021 1,873 2,894

The charge to retained earnings is for equity-settled RSUs awarded in lieu of dividends paid during
the vesting period.
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2.11. Subordinated debt

The following table provides a breakdown of subordinated debt:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Nominal 40,020 40,020
Hedge adjustment 3,956 5,026
Accrued interest 1,528 1,529
Total 45,504 46,575

The nominal amount of subordinated debt is eligible to be included in regulatory Tier 2 capital.

2.12. Liabilities from puttable shares

The following table presents the carrying value of issued puttable shares:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Class A common shares, voting 9,492 20,507
Class C common shares, non-voting 1,654 6,475
Total 11,146 26,982

The continuity of issued puttable shares is shown in the following table:

Common shares
Number of puttable shares Class A Class C

As at October 1, 2012 4,942,311 1,560,454
RSUs exercised during the year - 168,930
Redemptions (1,880,473) (494,279)
Reclassification of puttable shares to share capital - (839,887)
Put right exercised (793,300) -
As at September 30, 2013 2,268,538 395,218

As at October 1, 2011 4,989,311 823,258
RSUs exercised during the year - 737,196
Put right exercised (47,000) -
As at September 30, 2012 4,942,311 1,560,454

In September 2013 certain shareholders no longer qualified for the put right embedded in their
common shares. For these shares the Company has reclassified € 3,521 to share capital.
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2.13. Share capital

The following table presents the carrying value of issued share capital:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Class A common shares, voting 6,689 8,958
Class C common shares, non-voting 33,347 26,827
Class D common shares, voting 2,245 2,245
Class D preference shares 4,169 4,596
Total 46,450 42,626

The  Company  has  authorized  an  unlimited  number  of  shares  in  all  classes.  Shares  do  not  have  a
nominal value. All issued shares are fully paid. Class D preference shares have no stated dividend rate
and are redeemable at one Canadian dollar per share.

The continuity of issued share capital is shown in the following table:

Common shares Preference
Number of shares Class A Class C Class D shares

As at October 1, 2012 37,668,750 49,807,470 4,028,769 5,814,103
RSUs exercised during the year - 316,910 - -
Redemptions (736,700) (450,000) - -
Share conversion (8,800,000) 8,800,000 - -
Reclassification of puttable shares to share capital - 839,887 - -
As at September 30, 2013 28,132,050 59,314,267 4,028,769 5,814,103

As at October 1, 2011 37,668,750 48,308,534 4,028,769 5,814,103
RSUs exercised during the year - 1,498,936 - -
As at September 30, 2012 37,668,750 49,807,470 4,028,769 5,814,103

The board of directors has authorized the issuance of 162,235 shares or puttable shares by awarding
RSUs  and  767,675  shares  by  awarding  Notional  RSUs.  For  more  details  about  the  Company’s  RSU
plan, refer to note C.2.10.

The Company does not hold any treasury shares.

No dividend has been declared for the financial year ended on September 30, 2013.
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3. Consolidated statement of comprehensive income related disclosures

3.1. Interest income and expense

Interest income includes interest earned on the Company's loan portfolios and hedging derivative
financial instruments.

The following table presents the components of interest income:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents 119 371
Loans and receivables due from clients 12,556 22,055
Loans and receivables due from brokers and financial institutions 14 587
Securitized assets 21,740 5,182
Other financial instruments 393 179
Interest from hedging derivative financial instruments 14,862 13,397
Other 1,441 553
Total 51,125 42,324

Interest income from financial instruments classified as loans and receivables includes commissions
and fees that are part of an effective interest rate and are therefore not presented as commission
income or expense.

Interest income includes € 7 [2012 - € 7] from impaired financial instruments measured at cost.

The following table presents the components of interest expense:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Due to clients - 241
Due to brokers and financial institutions 576 1,338
Customer deposits 23,561 45,150
Liabilities from securitization transactions 15,394 3,521
Subordinated debt 2,368 2,370
Interest from hedging derivative financial instruments 2,350 988
Total 44,249 53,608

3.2. Charges for (recovery of) loan impairment

The charges for (recovery of) loan impairment of € 2,231 [2012 - € (2,803)] include provisions for loan
impairment of € 3,668 [2012 – € 1,764] and recoveries/repayments of € 1,437 [2012 – € 4,567]. A detailed
analysis of loan impairment is presented in notes C.2.4. and C.5.1.
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3.3. Commission income and expense

Commission income of € 2,989 [2012 - € 4,734] includes € 2,975 [2012 - € 3,572] of revenues from the
Company acting as agent in the purchase and sale of fixed income instruments.

Commission expense of € 1,375 [2012 - € 391] primarily includes servicing fees paid for the mortgage
securitization portfolio.

3.4. Net gains (losses) from financial assets/liabilities at fair value through profit or loss and
hedge accounting

Net  gains  (losses)  from  financial  assets/liabilities  at  fair  value  through  profit  or  loss  and  hedge
accounting include the following items:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Customer business 2,996 2,729
Securities finance 29,257 30,526
Proprietary trading 16,815 41,300
Other (2,541) 15,025

Net gains (losses) from trading 46,527 89,580
Net gains (losses) from financial assets designated at fair value
through profit or loss 2,400 3,661
Net gains (losses) from fair value hedge accounting 2,696 560
Total 51,623 93,801

The net gains (losses) from financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss include gains
(losses) of € (18) from derivative financial instruments which economically hedge these financial assets
[2012 – € 568].

3.5. Other income (expense)

Other income (expense) includes the following items:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Interest accrued on current tax assets 15,085 8,366
Reversal of accrued liabilities 11,062 -
Gains (losses) from valuation of puttable shares (447) (958)
Net gains (losses) from the early termination of other financial liabilities (84) 192
Other 1,398 3,286
Total 27,014 10,886
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3.6. Employee compensation and benefits

Employee compensation and benefits includes the following:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Salaries and benefits 36,863 44,034
Pension expense 1,758 1,707
RSU expense 3,592 8,034
Total 42,213 53,775

3.7. Tax expense (income)

Tax  expense  (income)  is  calculated  using  the  local  statutory  tax  rates  applied  to  the  taxable  income
(loss)  of  each taxable  entity,  allowing for  any income which may be  exempt  from income tax  under
appropriate regulations.

The  Company's  tax  expense  (income)  calculated  at  Canadian  statutory  tax  rate  is  summarized  as
follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Profit (loss) before taxes 11,552 11,687

Tax expense (income) based on Canadian statutory tax rate 3,061 3,141

Net adjustment to deferred tax assets not recognized 2,494 (3,408)
Rate differentials on international operations 774 761
Adjustment to current tax of prior periods 50 (893)
Release of tax liabilities - (2,142)
Non-taxable income (1) (352)
Non-deductible expenses 566 1,869
Deferred tax expense (income) related to changes in tax rates 243 99
Other (208) (156)
Tax expense (income) 6,979 (1,081)

The  Canadian  statutory  tax  rate  is  26.5%  [2012  -  26.875%].   The  decrease  is  due  to  reductions  in
Canadian federal tax rates.
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The tax expense (income) in profit (loss) for the year is comprised of the following:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Current tax expense (income)
Current income tax (income) (186) (1,971)
Adjustment to current tax of prior periods 50 (893)

Deferred tax expense (income)1)

Origination and reversal of temporary differences 10,220 4,093
Loss carryforwards (3,105) (2,310)
Tax expense (income) 6,979 (1,081)

1) Previous year amounts have been changed to present deferred tax expense (income) on loss
carryforwards separately.

3.8. Other comprehensive income (loss)

Other comprehensive income (loss) is shown in the consolidated statement of comprehensive income
net of tax. The associated gross amounts are:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Items that may be subsequently reclassified to profit or loss
   Exchange difference on translation of foreign operations, net of hedging and
   before tax 386 (440)
   Tax expense (income) relating to exchange difference on translation of foreign
   operations, net of hedging 733 (686)
Total (347) 246

Items that will not be reclassified to profit or loss
   Actuarial gains (losses) in defined benefit pension schemes and before tax (1,143) (716)
   Tax expense (income) relating to actuarial gains (losses) in defined benefit
   pension schemes (365) (229)
Total (778) (487)

The exchange difference on translation of foreign operations contains a transfer of € 392 [2012 - nil]
from other comprehensive income to net income because the Company reduced its net investment in
self-sustaining foreign operations. As described in note C.1.2. the Company hedges its net investments
in such operations to mitigate foreign exchange risk on its net investments.  For these transactions, the
Company applies hedge accounting.
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4. Other disclosures

4.1. Classification of financial instruments and additional fair value related disclosures

The following table provides an overview of how the positions in the consolidated statement of
financial position are classified and measured:

Financial assets Category
Cash and cash equivalents LAR
Securities owned FVTPL: HFT or FVO (see note C.2.2.)
Securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral FVTPL: HFT
Trading derivative financial instruments HFT
Hedging derivative financial instruments Hedge Accounting
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements FVTPL: HFT
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending agreements FVTPL: HFT
Loans and receivables due from clients LAR
Loans and receivables due from brokers and financial institutions LAR
Securitized assets LAR
Other financial instruments HTM, AfS or HFT (see note C.2.6.)

Financial liabilities Category
Securities sold short LFV: HFT
Trading derivative financial instruments HFT
Hedging derivative financial instruments Hedge Accounting
Cash received under repurchase agreements LFV: HFT
Cash collateral received under securities lending agreements LFV: HFT
Due to clients OFL
Due to brokers and financial institutions OFL
Customer deposits OFL
Liabilities from securitization transactions OFL
Subordinated debt OFL
Liabilities from puttable shares OFL

FVTPL: fair value through profit or loss; HFT: held for trading; FVO: fair value option; LAR: loans and
receivables; HTM: held-to-maturity; AfS: available-for-sale; LFV: financial liability at fair value
through profit or loss; OFL: other financial liabilities.
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The following table shows the carrying value of financial instruments measured at fair value by fair
value hierarchy level:

€ ‘000 Level 1 Level 2 Level 3

September 30, 2013

Financial assets
Securities owned 503,400 726,061 -
Securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral 1,186,633 1,138,047 -
Derivative financial instruments 24,191 61,369 2
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements -  2,175,232 -
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending agreements -  1,559,164 -
Other financial instruments – financial assets held for trading - 61,810 -

Financial liabilities
Securities sold short 1,173,625 80,300 -
Derivative financial instruments 134,175 46,851 -
Cash received under repurchase agreements -  2,279,837 -
Cash collateral received under securities lending agreements -  1,967,862 -

September 30, 2012

Financial assets
Securities owned 218,394 1,006,281 -
Securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral 191,655 1,310,610 -
Derivative financial instruments 5,983 83,406 2
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements - 1,576,148 -
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending agreements - 1,738,410 -

Financial liabilities
Securities sold short 1,253,843 34,592 -
Derivative financial instruments 148,856 62,394 -
Cash received under repurchase agreements - 2,525,223 -
Cash collateral received under securities lending agreements - 389,811 -

The following prior year amounts have been adjusted to move the following transactions from level 1
to level 2: cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements [€ 802,420], cash collateral advanced
under securities lending agreements [€ 1,638,337], cash received under repurchase agreements
[€ 2,355,837] and cash collateral received under securities lending agreements [€ 389,811].

Securities owned include financial assets designated at fair value of € 248,848 [2012 – € 191,959], which
are classified in level 2.
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The changes in fair value of securities owned and derivative financial instruments classified in level 3
are shown in the table below:

€ ‘000 Securities owned

Derivative financial
instruments –

assets

Fair value as at October 1, 2012 - 2
Total gains (losses) in income - -
Sales - -
Fair value as at September 30, 2013 - 2

Fair value as at October 1, 2011 7 2
Total gains (losses) in income 1 -
Sales (8) -
Fair value as at September 30, 2012 - 2

There were no transfers of financial instruments into or out of level 3 from the other levels in 2012 or
2013. There were no significant transfers between level 1 and level 2.

For financial instruments classified as level 3 that are held at the end of the reporting period, the
Company recognized € nil [2012 - € nil] gains in net gains (losses) from financial assets/liabilities at fair
value through profit or loss and hedge accounting for the year.

The Company performs sensitivity analyses on financial instruments classified in level 3, substituting
the unobservable inputs with one or more possible alternative assumptions. The alternative
assumptions include changes in credit and liquidity spreads. These sensitivity analyses result in a
negligible change in the fair values of financial instruments classified as level 3.
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The following table compares carrying values and fair values of financial assets and financial liabilities
that are not measured at fair value:

€ ‘000 Carrying value Fair value Carrying value Fair value
2013 2013 2012 2012

Financial assets

Cash and cash equivalents 85,727 85,727 48,770 48,770
Due from clients 329,035 332,740 209,249 214,476
Due from brokers and financial
institutions 294,833 294,870 114,785 114,796
Securitized assets 1,201,747 1,213,516 573,234 578,365
Other financial instruments – held-to-
maturity 18,879 19,224 19,031 19,815
Total 1,930,221 1,946,077 965,069 976,222

Financial liabilities
Due to clients 16,247 16,247 37,420 37,420
Due to brokers and financial
institutions 390,805 390,805 261,788 261,788
Customer deposits 2,108,490 2,100,636 1,718,066 1,706,355
Liabilities from securitization
transactions 1,188,412 1,193,362 565,653 568,906
Subordinated debt 45,504 41,998 46,575 38,155
Liabilities from puttable shares 11,146 11,146 26,982 26,982
Total 3,760,604 3,754,194 2,656,484 2,639,606

4.2. Assets transferred

Securitization

The Company purchases insured residential mortgage loans from third-party originators and
securitizes these mortgage loans periodically. At the time of transfer, the Company surrenders control
of the transferred assets in exchange for cash and future claims on interest. The buyers have no
recourse to the Company's other assets.  The transfer of the mortgage loans receivable does not result
in derecognition of the mortgage loans from the Company’s consolidated statement of financial
position.

The fair value of securitized assets and liabilities from securitization transactions is as follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Mortgage loans           1,213,516        578,365
Canada mortgage bonds issued          (1,193,362)       (568,906)
Difference                20,154            9,459

The carrying value of securitized assets and liabilities from securitization transactions is as follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Mortgage loans            1,201,747        573,234

Canada mortgage bonds issued          (1,188,412)       (565,653)
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Other transfers

In addition, the Company pledges and receives collateral (securities or cash) primarily for repurchase
agreements, securities borrowing agreements or as collateral in derivative transactions. These
transactions are conducted under the master agreements applicable to that kind of business.

The  following  table  shows  the  carrying  amount  of  financial  assets  the  Company  has  pledged  as
collateral:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Securities 2,739,877 1,694,224
Cash collateral for derivative financial instruments or margin
for repurchase agreements 61,079 18,817
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending agreements 1,559,164 1,738,407
Total 4,360,120 3,451,448

The Company has transferred € 2,324,680 of securities owned where the transferee has the right to sell
or re-pledge these assets [2012 - € 1,502,265]. According to IAS 39, these assets are presented
separately in the line “securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral” in the consolidated
statement of financial position. The Company continues to recognize all of these transferred assets.
The  carrying  amount  of  the  liability  associated  with  the  transferred  securities  is  €  1,565,072  [2012  -
€ 1,048,940], which is shown as cash received under repurchase agreements or cash collateral received
under securities lending agreements.

The Company receives collateral for reverse repurchase agreements, for derivative financial
instrument transactions, for securities loaned or in its lending business. In the absence of default by
their owner, the Company is permitted to resell or repledge securities with a fair value of € 5,935
million [2012 -  €  5,334 million].  Of these,  securities  with a fair  value of  €  5,007 million [2012 -  €  4,446
million] have been pledged or otherwise transferred.
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4.3. Additional cash flow information

The following table shows supplementary information to the consolidated statement of cash flows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Cash and cash equivalents consist of the following components
Cash on hand and bank accounts 30,446 36,676
Demand deposits and cash equivalents 55,281 12,094

Net cash flows from operating activities contain
Income taxes paid 104,058 141,130
Income taxes received 22,316 7,552
Interest paid 44,524 52,116
Interest received 51,384 42,252

The consolidated statement of cash flows discloses the following positions as net amounts in changes
in operating assets or operating liabilities:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Changes in operating assets
Securities owned (including securities owned and loaned or pledged as
collateral) (765,613) 1,758,485
Derivative financial instruments 1,004 93,451
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements (674,719) 1,047,096
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending agreements 119,937 (433,351)
Loans and receivables due from clients (148,980) (36,877)
Loans and receivables due from brokers and financial institutions (183,203) 61,027
Securitized assets (709,136) (511,673)
Other financial instruments (321,411) (19,135)
Other assets (12,127) (12,690)
Total (2,694,248) 1,946,333
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€ ‘000 2013 2012

Changes in operating liabilities
Securities sold short 73,653 287,510
Derivative financial instruments (22,081) (67,659)
Cash received under repurchase agreements (96,368) (1,937,472)
Cash collateral received under securities lending agreements 1,643,811 (230,343)
Due to clients (20,266) (139,909)
Due to brokers and financial institutions 140,163 (72,961)
Customer deposits 413,818 (249,053)
Liabilities from securitization transactions 702,428 504,677
Accounts payable and other liabilities (15,899) (2,465)
Total 2,819,259 (1,907,675)

Net change in operating assets and liabilities 125,011 38,658

Items not affecting cash
Charges for (recovery of) loan impairment 3,353 (2,803)
Depreciation and amortization 2,290 2,407
Employee compensation 1,642 2,358
Deferred income tax 7,115 1,783
Total 14,400 3,745
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4.4. Maturity analysis of assets and liabilities

The following table provides an analysis of assets and liabilities according to when they are expected
to be recovered or settled.

€ ‘000
Within one

year
After one

year Total

September 30, 2013

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 85,727 - 85,727
Securities owned 1,229,461 - 1,229,461
Securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral 2,324,680 - 2,324,680
Derivative financial instruments 48,096 37,466 85,562
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements 2,175,232 - 2,175,232
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending agreements 1,559,164 - 1,559,164
Loans and receivables due from clients 69,470 259,565 329,035
Loans and receivables due from brokers and financial institutions 225,175 69,658 294,833
Securitized assets 5,223 1,196,524 1,201,747
Other financial instruments 61,810 19,811 81,621
Property, plant and equipment - 3,085 3,085
Intangible assets - 5,151 5,151
Other assets - 40,972 40,972
Current tax assets 10,967 475,560 486,527
Deferred tax assets - 19,975 19,975
Total 7,795,005 2,127,767 9,922,772

Liabilities
Securities sold short 1,253,925 - 1,253,925
Derivative financial instruments 173,017 8,009 181,026
Cash received under repurchase agreements 2,279,837 - 2,279,837
Cash collateral received under securities lending agreements 1,967,862 - 1,967,862
Due to clients 16,247 - 16,247
Due to brokers and financial institutions 390,805 - 390,805
Customer deposits 1,792,961 315,529 2,108,490
Liabilities from securitization transactions - 1,188,412 1,188,412
Accounts payable and other liabilities 44,670 21,206 65,876
Current tax liabilities 5,555 - 5,555
Deferred tax liabilities - 4,012 4,012
Subordinated debt - 45,504 45,504
Liabilities from puttable shares - 11,146 11,146
Total 7,924,879 1,593,818 9,518,697
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€ ‘000
Within one

year
After one

year Total

September 30, 2012

Assets
Cash and cash equivalents 48,770 - 48,770
Securities owned 1,224,675 - 1,224,675
Securities owned and loaned or pledged as collateral 1,502,265 - 1,502,265
Derivative financial instruments 38,527 50,864 89,391
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase agreements 1,576,148 - 1,576,148
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending agreements 1,738,407 - 1,738,407
Loans and receivables due from clients 65,854 143,395 209,249
Loans and receivables due from brokers and financial institutions 101,254 13,531 114,785
Securitized assets - 573,234 573,234
Other financial instruments - 20,059 20,059
Property, plant and equipment - 3,713 3,713
Intangible assets - 3,475 3,475
Other assets - 29,525 29,525
Current tax assets1) 31,441 375,027 406,468
Deferred tax assets - 25,451 25,451
Total 6,327,341 1,238,274 7,565,615

Liabilities
Securities sold short 1,288,435 - 1,288,435
Derivative financial instruments 208,754 2,496 211,250
Cash received under repurchase agreements 2,525,223 - 2,525,223
Cash collateral received under securities lending agreements 389,811 - 389,811
Due to clients 37,420 - 37,420
Due to brokers and financial institutions 261,788 - 261,788
Customer deposits 1,329,803 388,263 1,718,066
Liabilities from securitization transactions - 565,653 565,653
Accounts payable and other liabilities 55,137 24,058 79,195
Current tax liabilities 7,704 - 7,704
Deferred tax liabilities - 2,495 2,495
Subordinated debt - 46,575 46,575
Liabilities from puttable shares - 26,982 26,982
Total 6,104,075 1,056,522 7,160,597

1) Prior year amounts have been adjusted to present € 369,283 as expected to be recovered or settled
after one year.

4.5. Contingencies, credit commitments and operating lease commitments

The Company’s contingent assets and liabilities, irrevocable loan commitments, financial guarantees
and commitments for future payments under operating leases are described below.

Contingent assets and liabilities

The  tax  returns  of  the  Company  and  its  subsidiaries  are  subject  to  audit  by  the  respective  tax
authorities in the locations of their domiciles. At the reporting date each year, a number of such audits
can be in process.  If the tax authorities claim significant differences with the filing positions taken by
the Company, the Company consults with its professional advisors and determines the likely outcome
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of the resolution of the disputed items, and makes provisions for likely adverse results in accordance
with IFRS.

The  Company  is  in  dispute  with  the  German  tax  authorities  on  different  items  affecting  the  tax
position  of  previous  years.  The  Company  consulted  with  its  professional  advisors  to  determine  the
likely outcome of  the resolution of  the disputed items.  The Company is  of  the opinion that  its  filing
position  is  correct  and  has  not  recorded  a  provision.  In  the  event  that  the  Company’s  position  is
incorrect, net expenses of up to € 111.8 million [2012 - € 96.8] would have to be recognized. This also
includes the reversal of interest accrued until September 30, 2013 on disputed tax amounts.

The Company is party to a human resources related legal proceeding in Germany with a potential risk
in  the  amount  of  low  double  digit  million  Euro.  The  Company  is  of  the  opinion  that  the  claim  is
without merit.

The Company and its subsidiaries are also party to legal proceedings in the ordinary course of
business. While there is inherent difficulty in predicting the outcome of the proceedings, the Company
does not expect the outcome to have a material adverse effect on its consolidated financial position or
results of operations.

Credit commitments

In the normal course of business, the Company enters into various commitments. The credit
commitments are not shown in the consolidated statement of financial position as long as a provision
is not required.

The following table presents the maximum potential utilization of commitments that must be fulfilled
as at September 30:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Irrevocable loan commitments 44,927 87,409
Guarantees provided 5,727 4,181
Total 50,654 91,590

In  addition,  the  Company  is  committed  to  advance  cash  at  settlement  date  of  €  554,498
[2012 – € 225,380] in exchange for securities in unsettled reverse repurchase transactions.

Operating lease commitments

Future minimum annual lease payments under operating leases are as follows:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Within one year 2,582 2,937
After one year but not more than five years 5,127 6,546
More than five years 542 1,340
Total 8,251 10,823

The Company’s operating leases are usually limited to rent of office premises and equipment. These
leases  have  a  remaining  life  of  up  to  seven  years  and  in  part  contain  renewal  options  or  escalation
clauses based on general price indices.
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Lease payments of € 2,819 [2012 - € 2,232] have been recognized as an expense in the year. This
includes € 3,098 [2012 - € 2,585] of lease payments and € 279 [2012 - € 353] of sublease payments
received.

Total future minimum sublease payments expected to be received by the Company under non-
cancellable subleases are € 321 [2012 - € 1,269].

4.6. Related party disclosures

Related parties of the Company are key management personnel and other related parties. Key
management personnel are those persons having authority and responsibility for planning, directing
and controlling the activities of the Company, directly or indirectly, including any director (whether
executive or otherwise) of the Company. Other related parties include entities that have significant
influence on the Company, such as shareholders. In the normal course of business, the Company
enters into transactions with such shareholders.

Transactions with related parties are carried out on terms equivalent to those prevailing in arm’s
length transactions.

Transactions with key management personnel

The following table provides balances with key management personnel as at September 30:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Derivative financial instruments – assets 992 80
Other assets 13 3,735
Derivative financial instruments – liabilities 109 2,095
Due to clients 4,849 1,565
Accounts payable and other liabilities 14,492 8,584

During the year, the Company had a maximum receivable and payable to key management personnel
of € nil and € 12,781 respectively [2012 - € 164 and € 18,000, respectively]. Derivative financial
instruments had a notional value of € 20,000 [2012 - € 22,500]. The maximum notional value of
derivative financial instruments during the year was € 39,500 [2012 - € 22,500].

Other assets and accounts payable and other liabilities include receivables and payables from the
Company’s RSU plan (see note C.2.6. and C.2.10.).

The following table discloses the components of compensation for key management personnel for the
year ended September 30:

€ ‘000 2013 2012

Short-term employee benefits 3,291 6,922
Post-employment benefits 290 280
Other long-term benefits 227 2,018
Share-based payments - 1,681
Total 3,808 10,901
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Transactions with other related parties

The following table shows the year-end balance and the maximum balance during the year:

€ ‘000

Balance as at
September 30,

2013

Maximum
Balance in

2013

Balance as at
September 30,

2012

Maximum
Balance in

2012

Cash collateral advanced under securities
lending agreements 106 111 - 305
Loans and receivables due from brokers and
financial institutions - 131 - 364
Cash collateral received under securities
lending agreements - 38,101 - 63,290
Due to brokers and financial institutions 6,616 258,208 - -

In addition, the Company enters into securities borrowing agreements with other related parties in
which the Company borrows securities and delivers other securities as collateral. The Company has
borrowed securities of € 7,307 [2012 - € 141] in exchange for non-cash collateral delivered of € 7,344
[2012 - € 156].

The  net  gains  (losses)  from  financial  assets/liabilities  at  fair  value  through  profit  or  loss  and  hedge
accounting include gains (losses) from transactions with other related parties of € 90 [2012 - € (254)].

4.7. List of consolidated entities

The table below lists the consolidated entities and their respective domiciles:

Name of entity Country

Maple Financial Group Inc. (ultimate parent) Canada
Maple Futures Corp. Canada
Maple Financial Europe SE Germany
Maple Bank GmbH Germany
EAS die Fünfte GmbH i. L. Germany
Maple Securities (U.K.) Limited United Kingdom
Maple Holdings Canada Limited Canada
Maple Securities Canada Limited Canada
Maple Trade Finance Inc. Canada
Maple Arbitrage Inc. U.S.A.
Maple Partners America Inc. U.S.A.
Maple Trade Finance Corp. U.S.A.
Maple Securities U.S.A. Inc. U.S.A.
Maple Commercial Finance Corp. U.S.A.
Maple Trade Finance L.P. U.S.A.
Maple Financial US Holdings Inc. U.S.A.
Maple Group Commercial Finance Master Fund II Limited Cayman Islands

Maple Financial Group Inc. controls 100% of the voting rights of each entity.
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The following SPEs are consolidated because they are controlled by the Company:

Name of entity Country

Xceed Capital Corporation Canada
PWM Financial Trust Canada

The following entities were deconsolidated after their liquidation since October 1, 2011:

Name of entity Country Year of liquidation

Maple Partners B Ltd. United Kingdom 2012
Maple Financial U.S. Holdings 1 LLC U.S.A. 2012
Maple Life No. 1 LLP U.S.A. 2012
Maple Life Management LLC U.S.A. 2012
Maple Financial U.K. Ltd. United Kingdom 2013

4.8. Events after the reporting period

No events have occurred since the reporting date that could have a material impact on the Company’s
net assets, financial position or results.

4.9. Capital management

The Company's principal subsidiaries are required to maintain minimum levels of capital pursuant to
regulations  to  which they are  subject  in  the  jurisdictions  in  which they operate.  Capital  adequacy is
managed with the objectives of funding existing operations and complying with regulatory
requirements of principal subsidiaries. These objectives are achieved by regularly monitoring capital
adequacy requirements. Capital and liquidity is managed on both a going concern and stressed-case
basis. Capital includes equity, puttable shares and subordinated debt. The distribution of capital and
earnings of these subsidiaries may be constrained by these requirements.

Additionally, the Company voluntarily complies with global consolidated capital adequacy
requirements under Basel II and reports these to the German Federal Financial Services Supervisory
Authority (Bundesanstalt für Finanzdienstleistungsaufsicht - BaFin).

As  at  September  30,  2013,  the  Company's  subsidiaries  were  in  compliance  with  their  local  capital
requirements. In addition, the Company's Tier 1 capital adequacy ratio was 20.4% [2012 - 11.8%],
exceeding the minimum ratio of 4%.

A risk-bearing capacity framework sets out the Company’s internal management of economic capital.
The goal is to ensure that the Company has sufficient capital to withstand losses under both normal
circumstances and a variety of stressed scenarios. The Company’s risk-bearing capacity utilization is
calculated, monitored and reported daily.
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The standard case of the risk-bearing capacity framework is based on the “going concern” approach,
which assumes the Company will continue operating, assuming current market conditions. As an
additional restriction, continued compliance with the minimum capital rules based on sections 10 and
10a of the German Banking Act is required. The risk taking potential (also referred to as “risk capital”)
is composed of expected earnings and the modified regulatory capital less the regulatory capital
requirements under the Solvency Regulation.

The stressed case of the risk-bearing capacity framework is based on the “net-asset value” approach,
which assumes that the Company will liquidate its positions in an orderly fashion over a period of 15
months under various conditions of market stress. In this approach, the risk taking potential is equal
to the Company’s theoretical value in case of liquidation.

The risk taking potential is the basis for limits for significant risk factors. The individual limits are also
established based on the strategic business orientation of the Company and risk and reward
considerations.

The Company’s internal risk capital allocated to each risk factor and corresponding utilization are as
follows:

Risk factors Standard case Stress case

€ millions
Allocated

risk capital Utilization
Allocated

risk capital Utilization

September 30, 2013

Market risk 45.0 27.9 144.0 72.2
Currency risk 1.5 0.4 2.5 1.4
Credit risk 9.5 3.8 68.5 32.4
Operational and other risks 14.1 14.1 52.2 52.2
Liquidity risk 2.0 0.8 6.0 4.5
Earnings risk 16.2 16.2 - -
Allocated risk capital 88.3 63.2 273.2 162.7

Unallocated risk capital 158.9 105.8

Total risk capital 247.2 379.0

September 30, 2012

Market risk 45.0 21.3 145.0 71.1
Currency risk 1.5 0.5 2.5 1.9
Credit risk 10.0 2.4 70.0 26.4
Operational and other risks 14.1 14.1 52.2 52.2
Liquidity risk 1.5 0.1 3.5 2.1
Earnings risk 15.9 15.9 - -
Allocated risk capital 88.0 54.3 273.2 153.7

Unallocated risk capital 131.7 87.9

Total risk capital 219.7 361.1
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5. Risk management

The Company views risk as an integral part of its business. The purpose of sound risk management is
to provide reasonable assurance that incurred risks do not exceed acceptable limits and that risk-
taking contributes to the creation of  shareholder value.  The Company has an established global  risk
management framework based on identification, quantification and control of risks arising from
business activities. This framework is implemented globally which enables risks to be assessed
separately or in aggregate and on both a standalone entity and consolidated basis. Risk management
is a vital part of the Company's culture. Employees are encouraged to assess and communicate risks
arising from their activities.

The Company's Executive Committee is responsible for risk management oversight and development
of the risk management framework. Independent risk managers reporting to the Executive Committee
are responsible for implementation of the global risk framework and to control and limit risks on a
daily basis.

The risk management framework originates with the concept of risk-bearing capacity, the definition of
risk  capital  and  limits  for  the  various  risk  factors.  Risk-bearing  capacity  represents  the  ability  of  a
company to withstand losses without being forced into liquidation.

As  a  diversified  banking  and  financial  trading  firm,  the  Company  has  exposure  to  various  types  of
risk with credit risk and market risk being predominant. The Company only transacts in pre-approved
businesses in defined markets and with pre-approved counterparties. The Company only takes direct
credit risk after carefully examining the counterparty and the transaction and approving them in
writing.  A  broad  diversification  of  credit  risks  is  sought  and  only  secured  loan  transactions  are
approved.

The following sections describe the risk types identified as most pertinent to the Company’s activities.

5.1. Credit risk

Credit  risk  is  the  risk  of  loss  associated  with  the  inability  of  a  third  party  to  fulfill  its  payment
obligations. These parties may default on their obligations due to bankruptcy, lack of liquidity,
operational failure or other reasons. Credit risk is further defined as counterparty risk and issuer risk.
Counterparty risk arises from trading counterparties, customers, clearing agents, exchanges, clearing
houses and other financial intermediaries. Issuer risk involves issuers of securities that are held by the
Company.

The Company's exposure to credit risk can arise from derivative transactions, securities borrowing
and lending agreements, collateralized lending transactions, securities purchased and other
collateralized transactions. The Company limits credit risk by dealing with counterparties that the
Company believes are creditworthy, evaluating the quality of collateral provided, and by limiting
credit in accordance with regulatory requirements and corporate policy. Master netting agreements
are used wherever possible that allow favourable contracts to be settled against unfavourable
contracts with the same counterparty. The Company has a Credit Committee which approves limits
for each counterparty on a legal entity basis as well as on a credit group basis.
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A detailed credit analysis is performed prior to establishing a business relationship with any
counterparty. The Credit Committee decides on the proposed limits on the basis of this written credit
assessment. Credit limits and credit exposures are monitored daily. Annual reviews of the
counterparties' financial condition are performed, and regular analyses are done during the year to
monitor the counterparties' creditworthiness, enabling the Company to take appropriate measures, if
necessary.

For exchange-traded products, exposure to credit risk is limited as these transactions are standardized
contracts, executed on established exchanges, and are subject to daily settlement of variation margins.
Written options have limited credit risk as the counterparty has already performed in accordance with
the terms of the contract through an up-front payment of the premium.

The Company monitors credit exposure by counterparty and counterparty group based on net
exposure adjusted for adverse moves in individual risk factors.

Credit exposure

Gross credit exposures are measured without allowing for netting or collateral arrangements. Net
exposure includes netting or collateral received to reduce the potential risk of a transaction.
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The following table shows the gross and net credit exposure:

Collateral received

€ millions
Gross

exposure Cash Securities

Receivables/
Mortgages/

Other
Surplus

Collateral Netting
Net

exposure

September 30, 2013

On-balance exposure
Securities 2,460  -  -  -  -  -  2,460
Derivative financial
instruments  86 1  34  -  (32)  50  33
Cash advanced under
reverse repurchase
agreements  2,175  -  2,288  -  (114) -  1
Cash collateral advanced
under securities lending
agreements  1,559  -  1,542  -  (18)  11  24
Loans and receivables due
from clients  329 7 -  324  (15) -  13
Loans and receivables due
from brokers and financial
institutions  295  -  139  69  (9) 19  77
Securitized assets  1,202  -  -  1,202  -  -  -
Other financial
instruments  82  -  -  -  -  -  82
Total 8,188 8 4,003 1,595  (188) 80 2,690

Off-balance exposure
Securities loaned or
pledged as collateral  4,217 1,968  2,070  -  (121)  101 199
Securities delivered under
repurchase agreements  2,361 2,283  -  - -  22  56
Financial guarantees  6  -  -  -  -  -  6
Irrevocable loan
commitments  45  -  -  -  -  -  45
Total 6,629 4,251 2,070 -  (121)  123 306

September 30, 2012
On-balance exposure
Securities  2,727 -  -  -  -  -  2,727
Derivative financial
instruments  89 7  12  -  (7)  21  56
Cash advanced under
reverse repurchase
agreements  1,576 - 1,453  - (78) 190 11
Cash collateral advanced
under securities lending
agreements 1,738 - 1,764  - (70) 8 36
Loans and receivables due
from clients 209 7  85 115 (14)  - 16
Loans and receivables due
from brokers and financial
institutions 115 -  41  -  - 30 44
Securitized assets 573 -  - 573  -  -  -
Other financial
instruments 20 -  -  -  -  -  20
Total 7,047 14 3,355 688  (169) 249 2,910
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Collateral received

€ millions
Gross

exposure Cash Securities

Receivables/
Mortgages/

Other
Surplus

Collateral Netting
Net

exposure

September 30, 2012

Off-balance exposure
Securities loaned or
pledged as collateral 2,643 390 2,143 - (78) (8) 196
Securities delivered under
repurchase agreements 2,349 2,525 - - (4) (190) 18
Financial guarantees 4 - - - - - 4
Irrevocable loan
commitments 87 - - - - - 87
Total 5,083 2,915 2,143 - (82) (198) 305

The following table provides an overview of the credit quality of financial assets:

Neither past due nor impaired

Investment
grade

Non-
investment

grade
Not

rated

Past due
but not

impaired

Indivi-
dually

impaired€ ‘000

September 30, 2013

Securities owned 709,168 64,321 116,855 - -
Securities owned and loaned or pledged as
collateral 1,254,240 15,037 300,000 - -

Derivative financial instruments 63,037 12 22,513 - -
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase
agreements 1,809,721 258,910 106,601 - -
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending
agreements 1,385,466 76,817 96,881 - -

Loans and receivables due from clients 283,184 35,871 2,640  6,929 411
Loans and receivables due from brokers and
financial institutions 237,287 23,815 33,731 - -

Securitized assets 1,189,482 - - 12,265 -

Other financial instruments 18,879 - 61,810 - -

Total 6,950,464 474,783 741,031 19,194 411

September 30, 2012

Securities owned 679,374 35,210 53,969 - -
Securities owned and loaned or pledged as
collateral 1,358,555 - 39,832 - -

Derivative financial instruments 84,626 789 3,976 - -
Cash advanced under reverse repurchase
agreements 1,276,607 97,962 201,579 - -
Cash collateral advanced under securities lending
agreements 1,555,949 182,436 22 - -

Loans and receivables due from clients 63,007 64,355 52,410 7,127 22,350
Loans and receivables due from brokers and
financial institutions 91,805 1,273 21,707 - -

Securitized assets 566,087 - - 7,147 -

Other financial instruments 19,032 - - - -

Total 5,695,042 382,025 373,495 14,274 22,350
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The classification as investment grade and non-investment grade follows Standard & Poor’s scheme.
Investment  grade  includes  rating  classes  from  AAA  to  BBB-.  Non-investment  grade  refers  to  the
grades BB+ and lower.

The following table provides a maturity analysis of financial assets past due but not impaired:

€ ‘000
Less than

90 days
91-180

days
181-365

days
More than

1 year Total

September 30, 2013

Loans and receivables due from clients  6,093 152 302 382  6,929
Securitized assets  10,496 1,403 366 -  12,265
Total  16,589  1,555  668  382  19,194

September 30, 2012

Loans and receivables due from clients 7,127 - - - 7,127
Securitized assets 7,147 - - - 7,147
Total 14,274 - - - 14,274

The following table discloses the individually assessed impairments and fair value of collateral
received and held against the impaired assets:

€ ‘000 Gross loan Impairment
Loan after

impairment
Collateral

received

September 30, 2013

Loans and receivables due from clients 9,646 9,235 411 281
Total 9,646 9,235 411 281

September 30, 2012

Loans and receivables due from clients 38,350 16,000 22,350 22,311
Total 38,350 16,000 22,350 22,311

In  addition  the  loans  and  receivables  due  from clients  include  a  general  loan  loss  provision  of  €  26
[2012 - nil].

The collateral received consists of physical assets, receivables and mortgages.
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5.2. Market risk

Market risk is  the risk that  fair  value or future cash flows of  the financial  instruments will  fluctuate
due to changes in market variables such as interest rates, foreign exchange rates and underlying
instrument prices. Depending on the nature of strategy and associated risks, the Company assigns
volume, position, stop loss, sensitivity and value at risk (VaR) limits. The Company manages market
risk on a daily basis by consolidating all trading book and banking book positions and associated risks
and comparing them to assigned limits. The results of this analysis are then reported separately and in
aggregate to provide a complete picture of market risk exposures.

Interest rate risk

Interest rate risk arises from the possibility that changes in interest rates will affect the value of
financial instruments. The Company incurs interest rate risk on its cash and cash equivalent balances,
securities, derivative financial instruments, cash delivered or received in support of securities lending
and borrowing agreements, collateralized lending portfolios and interest paid on its short- and long-
term customer deposits and subordinated debt. Interest rate risk is managed by continuously
monitoring interest rate gaps against assigned limits, on both a current and stress-case basis. The
Company uses hedging strategies to mitigate interest rate risk.

Currency risk

Currency  risk  is  the  risk  that  the  value  of  a  financial  instrument  will  fluctuate  due  to  changes  in
foreign exchange rates. Currency risk is not considered a major risk as the Company does not actively
trade foreign currency positions. The Company regularly monitors the currency exposures and
employs hedging strategies to mitigate the risk.

Due  to  the  limited  significance  of  currency  risk,  sensitivity  or  VaR analyses  are  not  used  as  a  daily
management instrument to address this risk.

Equity price risk

Equity price risk is the risk that the fair value of equities decreases as the result of changes in the level
of equity indices or individual stocks. The Company incurs equity price risk through its equity
positions which are classified as held for trading or available-for-sale. This type of risk is controlled by
volume, position, stop loss and VaR limits.

Value at Risk sensitivity

A VaR approach is used to measure and manage exposure to the described risk factors. The
calculations in the historical simulation model are based on 250 days of historic data, a 99% confidence
level and a one-day holding period. Therefore, the VaR approach calculates the amount that
represents with 99% probability the maximum loss within one day given normal market conditions.
Major limitations of VaR are that it uses historic data to predict potential future losses and it does not
provide information about potential losses from extreme events. Stress tests are used to complement
the VaR analysis and overcome these limitations.
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The  following  table  shows  the  VaR  for  each  risk  type  at  the  end  of  the  reporting  period  and  the
period’s average, maximum and minimum:

€ ‘000 Reporting date
For the year

Average Maximum Minimum

September 30, 2013

Interest rate risk 1,654 1,603 1,986 1,218
Equity price risk 1,218 1,595 2,773 549
Commodity price risk - 375 492 0
Diversification effect (827)
Total VaR 2,045

September 30, 2012

Interest rate risk 1,470 2,841 4,278 1,441
Equity price risk 1,429 1,555 2,743 674
Commodity price risk - 239 482 0
Diversification effect (1,137)
Total VaR 1,762

5.3. Liquidity risk

Liquidity risk is the risk of having insufficient cash resources in a timely and cost-effective manner to
meet financial obligations as they become due. The Company’s liquidity could be impaired by an
inability to access secured and/or unsecured debt markets, an inability to access funds from
subsidiaries, an inability to sell assets or unforeseen outflows of cash. Furthermore, the ability to sell
assets may be impaired if other market participants are seeking to sell similar assets at the same time.

The Company seeks to maintain sufficient liquidity under normal market environments, across
market cycles and through periods of financial stress. The Company's subsidiary, Maple Bank GmbH,
has a broad customer deposit base which assists in maintaining liquidity levels throughout the
Company.

The Company voluntarily holds a minimum liquidity cushion of € 200 million. On September 30, 2013,
Maple Bank GmbH held € 481 million [2012 - € 366 million] of securities in the Lombard depot, all of
which are eligible for European Central Bank funding requirements.

The Company has adopted a formal liquidity policy. Under the policy, liquidity reporting is carried
out under normal and stressed-case scenarios. The liquidity policy prescribes actions to be taken in the
event of liquidity crises. The Company's liquidity and funding procedures are intended to ensure
compliance with applicable regulatory restrictions and requirements and to ensure appropriate
liquidity in each region.

The liquidity of major subsidiaries is evaluated on a daily basis, factoring in business requirements,
market conditions and regulatory capital requirements. The Company’s local and global management
is informed about the liquidity status under normal market conditions and different stress case
scenarios.
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The  following  table  presents  undiscounted  cash  flows  payable  and  cash  flows  of  assets  held  for
managing liquidity risk by remaining contractual maturities:

€ ‘000
Up to 1
month

1- 3
months

4-12
months

1-5
years

Over 5
years Total

September 30, 2013

Non-derivative liabilities

Non-trading
Due to clients  16,247 - - - -  16,247
Due to brokers and financial
institutions 390,805 - - - -  390,805
Customer deposits  1,003,282  463,434  369,160  276,564  44,877  2,157,317
Liabilities from
securitization transactions  1,615  5,027  18,347  1,102,953  178,422  1,306,364
Subordinated debt - -  1,361  39,545  9,758  50,664
Liabilities from puttable shares  1,569 -  392  1,184  8,001  11,146

Trading
Securities sold short  1,253,925 - - - -  1,253,925
Cash received under
repurchase agreements  2,279,837 - - - -  2,279,837
Cash collateral received
under securities lending
agreements  1,967,862 - - - -  1,967,862

Total non-derivative liabilities 6.915.142  468,461  389,260  1,420,246  241,058 9.434.167

Derivative liabilities
Trading derivative financial
instruments  172,279 - - - -  172,279
Hedging derivative financial
instruments  191  (1,298)  (3,027)  11,962  1,194  9,022
Total derivative liabilities  172,470  (1,298)  (3,027)  11,962  1,194  181,301

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk 7,769,100 22,443 95,876 1,634,320 14,452  9,536,191

Net cash flows 681,488  (444,720) (290,357)  202,112  (227,800) (79,277)

Financial guarantees granted
and irrevocable commitments (50,654)
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€ ‘000
Up to 1
month

1- 3
months

4-12
months 1-5 years

Over 5
years Total

September 30, 2012

Non-derivative liabilities

Non-trading
Due to clients  37,420 - - - -  37,420
Due to brokers and financial
institutions  241,595  20,287 - - -  261,882
Customer deposits  285,439  613,374  450,574  319,370  90,284  1,759,041
Liabilities from
securitization transactions 876 1,844 8,299 385,021 216,829  612,869
Subordinated debt  346  660  1,361  29,706  21,965  54,038
Liabilities from puttable shares  2,365  -  -  9,460  15,157  26,982

Trading

Securities sold short 1,288,435 - - - -  1,288,435
Cash received under
repurchase agreements 2,525,223 - - - -  2,525,223
Cash collateral received
under securities lending
agreements  389,811 - - - -  389,811

Total non-derivative liabilities 4,771,510  636,165  460,234  743,557  344,235  6,955,701

Derivative liabilities
Trading derivative financial
instruments 208,748 - - - - 208,748
Hedging derivative financial
instruments (114) (225) (1,077) 4,359 - 2,943
Total derivative liabilities 208,634 (225) (1,077) 4,359 - 211,691

Assets held for managing
liquidity risk 6,266,969 14,606 48,429 812,727 15,319 7,158,050

Net cash flows 1,286,825 (621,334) (410,728) 64,811 (328,916) (9,342)

Financial guarantees granted
and irrevocable commitments (91,590)

The cash flows and their respective maturities presented above are based on data that are used to
manage the Company’s liquidity risks. Cash flows from non-derivative interest bearing products are
calculated with contractual interest rates and maturities. Variable interest rates are considered with
the underlying interest yield curves at the reporting date. Transactions which are payable or
receivable on demand or within a predefined time period are shown in the earliest time bucket
possible.
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Trading liabilities including derivative financial instruments that do not qualify for hedge accounting
are presented at fair value. Due to the short term nature of these products, fair value is allocated to the
shortest  time period even though the  contractual  maturity  could be  significantly  longer.  Cash flows
from hedging derivatives are allocated to the period they are paid.

5.4. Operational risk

Operational risk is the risk of loss resulting from inadequate or failed internal processes, personnel
and systems or from external events. Examples of operational risk are human error, disruptions of
operations and processes, technology risks and external catastrophes. Operational risk is encountered
in all activities, including the practices and controls used to manage other risks. Professional
management  of  operational  risk  reduces  possible  failures  in  the  management  of  other  risks  such  as
credit, market or regulatory risk.

The Company issues and regularly reviews its procedures to ensure they are current and effective in
the  prevention  of  operational  failures.  The  Company  maintains  a  database  to  record  actual  and
potential operational risk-related incidents. In addition, key risk indicators are monitored and a self-
assessment is completed annually. The results are reported regularly to the Executive Committee.

5.5. Regulatory risk

The Company is subject to extensive regulation under securities laws of the jurisdictions in which it
operates, including Canada, the United States, the United Kingdom and Germany. In the event of non-
compliance, regulators may institute administrative or judicial proceedings that may result in censure,
fines, civil penalties, suspension or disqualification of officers. There were no open regulatory issues
for the Company or its subsidiaries as at September 30, 2013.

5.6. Other risks

Other risks include strategic risk, tax risk, legal risk and reputational risk. The Company minimizes
exposure to these risks by using a standardized authorization process for new business lines.
Wherever possible, industry standard contracts are used. In the case of individual arrangements, the
Company is advised by appropriate external counsel on matters involving legal, regulatory and tax
issues.

The Company closely monitors its reputation in the market and tries to avoid any kind of settlement
failures which could potentially result in damage to its reputation.
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5.7. Concentrations of risk

Due to the Company’s focus on selected activities and counterparties, business activities may result in
a concentration of risks within a risk type. For credit risk, concentration can be classified by industry,
country or currency. Other concentrations, such as collateralization or attribution to profit or loss, may
occur and are assessed on an individual basis.

Concentrations in credit risk, market risk and liquidity risk are monitored. This enables the Executive
Committee to decide, on a case-by-case basis, if strategies or market situations require additional
monitoring, capital allocations or reduction of position sizes.

Management is aware of any undue concentrations of risk as a result of detailed risk monitoring. The
following table provides a breakdown of credit exposures by industry type, country and counterparty
rating:

2013 2012
As at September 30 % %

Credit exposure by industry type
Brokers and other financial institutions 55.3 9.4
Banks 26.5 24.4
Public administration including central banks 14.6 64.8
Other 3.6 1.4
Total 100.0 100.0

Credit exposure by country
Canada 56.1 51.8
Other Europe 18.9 18.9
U.S.A 16.7 5.2
Germany 8.3 24.1
Total 100.0 100.0

Credit exposure by counterparty rating
AAA to AA 62.9 73.5
A to BBB 24.9 22.5
Below BBB 8.0 1.1
Not rated 4.2 2.9
Total 100.0 100.0




